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ABSTRACT

The subject of this work is the Colorado Fuel and
Iron Company between 1900 and 1918, a veriod when it was beset
by urgent labor problems, Though the thesis covers the first
two decades of the twentieth century, the main emphasis will
be on the years 1913-1918, The former year marks the heginning
of the greatest labor crisis in the comvany's early history
and the latter yesr the end of the trial period of a olan which
the company had introduced at its coal mines and steel vlant.
The causes of the strike zre discussed as well as the ma jor
incidents of the conflict. I also describe the attemnts, both
private and governmental, to effect a settlement, and manage-
ment's resistance to come to any terms with the union. Lastly,
I discuss the Industrial Representation Plan, a scheme which
effectively eliminated the United Mine Workers 6f America from

the coumpany's coal fields for the next twenty years.
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ILTRUDUCTICKN

1
Many historians have enalyzed the veriod in American

history covering the first two decades of the twentieth cen-
tury. In any of their descriotions of this era, they always
mention one of these phenoxenas concentration of industry,
develooment of labor organizations, sccial conflict, =2nd state
interference with private business. Their consensus on the
fzcts, however, breaks down when they examine the effects.
some have maintained that the results henefited the working
class at the exvense of big business. OGthers have advanced the
theory that, notwithstanding the benefits accruing to the wage-
earners, more important, previous relationshiovs were not sig-
nificantly altered--big husiness retained its dominant vosition.
3ince this thesis recreates the labor history of only one cor-
poration it does not, consequently, oretend to solve the con-
flict; but, it will attempt to show that, at least in one
isoiated case, the viewpoint put forth by the latter historians
seems closer to the truth.
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The advent of the twentieth century coincided with
two major develooments which materially influenced labhor-
menarerent relations in Colorado. These weres (1) a vicorons
employer wovement designed to resist union demands; (2) 2n
increasing demand from Colorado labor organizations for an
elght-hour day and other concessions. 4s a first theme, this
thesis will consider the attemnts by the Colorado Fuel and Iron
Conmvany to organize the resistance to union lahor in Colorado.

The company was often accused of wielding excessive
economic, voliticel, and socl=)l vower. Economically, meintained
its critics, it dictated not only the miners' waces, but =2lso
where they would svend them. Politically, it was criticized
for interfering with every asvect of the miner's rights, and
soclally, for regulating all vhases of his life. As a second
theme, this thesis will exanine the evideﬁce relevant to the
company's alleged domination of its employees,

The firét ma jor encounter between the comovany and its
men, the 1503-1904 strie, resulted in a complete victory for
nanagement., Ten more years went by hefore the workers once
again challenged the company. During the 1913-1514 conflict,
the corporate feaders, disvlaying a firm ovorosition towards
the miners and their demands, were shle to cdefeat the strike.
As a third theme, the thesis will conzider the ontlook of the
comovany's major policy maxers, John D. Rockefeller, Jr., L.K.
Bowers, and J.F. Welborn, and the reasons for their obstinate
refusal to accent any plan of settlement as well as to desl with

tne union. as a seccrdary thene, the work will exauine the



efforts of both levels of government, federal and state, to
effect a settlement and the reasons they failed.

Even before the strike had actually come to an end,
managenent was formulating a plan which it would, once the
strike was over, put into effect at the mines. As a fourth
theme, the thesis will cover the origins of the Industrial
Representation Plan, its main features, management's purpose
in introducing it, the conflict withlin management as regards
the proper time to imvlement it, and the miners' and union's
responses to it. Furthermore, the Plan will be contrasted
with a similar emnloyee revresentation scheme in force at
McCormick and International Harvester, a producer of agricultural
machinery.

i Implementation of the Plan introduced a new era in
labor-management relations at the company. As a final thenme,
the thesls will outline the practical changes brought about
by the Plan. Also examined willl be the reaction of the company,

the miners, and the union towards these changes.



CHAPTER 1 - THE CCMPANY AND THE UNICN: 18$2-1913

The coal mining industry at the turn of the century
occupied a central position in the Colorado economy. Directly
or indirectly, nearly one-half of the state's povnulation

1
depended upon the industry.

Of the many mining corvorations overating in Colorado,
the largest was certainly the Colorgdo Fuel and Iron Company,2
which by 1913 accounted for 32 per cent of the state's total
coal oquut. The company had heen formed on October 21, 1892,
when a me}ger of the Colorado Fuel Company, engaged mainly in
the business of acquiring coal properties and coal lands, and
the Colorado Coal and Iron Company was effected under the
name of the CF&I.3 This consolidation was brought about
principally through the efforts of John C. Osgood, president
of the Colorado Fuel Company. This company and the Colorado
Coal and Iron Company, competitors in the coal and coke
business, had had a prolonged rivalry in acquiring proverties.
By having both companies under one management, a large reduction

in general expenses was expected as well as an increase in

net earnings. Osgood's reward for bringing about the merger

1

George S. McGovern, The Colorado Coal Strike, 1913=
1914 (Doctoral Dissertations Northwestern University, 1953),
P. 1. V
2

Hereafter referred to as the CF&I.

"The Minnequa Works of the Colorado Fuel and Iron
Company", Scientific American 45 (September 22, 1906): p. 214,




1
was the presidency of the newly-formed companye

At the beginning of the new century there arose a
contest for control of the CF&I. From the time of organi-
zation, control had rested in the hands of Osgoode. In 1901,
he learned that John W. Gates, a Chicago broker who in 1897
had organized the American Steel and Wire Company, had bought
extensive CF&I stock and it was suspected he was seeking to
take over. After a bitter contest, Osgood, with the supoort
of financier and railroad executive George Gould, thwarted
Gates's plans. Gould himself had received backing from John
D. Rockefeller, Sr., who had succeeded in convinelng Gates
to sell his stock to him.2 _

Though victorious against Gates, Osgood sought
additional financial backing. The senior Rockefeller gave
support, but it turned out to be a mixed blessing for the
Colorado operator. After realizing that financial control
had passed from him, Osgood resigned. His resignation
marked the beginnings of Eastern absentee ownership, a per-
petual sore spot in the company's labor relations.

The reorganization of the CF&I in 1902 meant that
the senior Rockefeller, through a purchase of $6,000,000 in
stocks, became the principal stockholder. At the time of

the 1913-1914 strike, the exfent of Rockefeller's holdings
1

The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, Company Pamphlet,
19709 p021 °

The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, p. 7.

The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, p. 8



totalled $24,109,818, which representeg about 40 per cent
of all the company's stocks and bonds.

Rockefeller's investment allowed him to name three
of the company's thirteen directors. At the time of the
strike, these were John D. Rockefeller, Jr., who had been
placed by his father in charge of all affalrs pertaining to
the CF&I, Starr J. Murphy, and Jerome D. Greene. The junior
Rockefeller could also count on the support of four other
New York directors.2 Theoretically, this meant that he
could dictate any policy no matter what the other six dlrectors
1iving in Colorado might say. 'Abtually, the most prominent
Colorado directors, President J. F. Welborn and Chairman of
the Board L. M. Bowers, more often than not %ook matters into
their own hands. Welborn, who had begun in the company's
sales department and had steadily moved upward until he had
become president in 1907, served the Rockefeller interests
well but only when these coincided with his own. The same
could also be said of Bowers who had come to Colorado in 1908
after he had been assocliated for twenty years with the senlor
Rockefeller in various of his business enterprises., From
1908 until 1916, when he was forced to resign, Bowers, together
with Welborn, ran the company as he saw fit,.

1

. Testimony of John D. Rockefeller, Jr., United States
Senate, Industrial Belations: Final Report and Testimony
Submitted to Congress by the Act of Congress, August 23, 1912,
6hth Cong., lst sSess., Sen. Doc. 415, 8, pp. 7765, 77783
hereinafter cited CIER.

2

Testimony of Rockefeller, Jre., CIR

? 9' p' 869""0
Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 8, p. 7779.



The CF&I, engagzed in mining throughout the state,
had its major mines in the southern part of Colorado, that
1s, in Las Animas and Huerfano countlies, The location of
these mines, i1solated geographically from the ponulation and
industrial centers of Colorado, was instrumental in enabling
the CF&I to establish company towns. In such towns, the
company owned and maintained property, housing, commercial
services, public utilities, and recreational facilities.1
The Colorado Supply Company, one of the CF&I's subsidiaries,
was the administrative foundation of the company town.,
Incorporated in 1888, this company had as its object "to

establish and operate general merchandising stores at the

various mining properties of the company for the convenience
2

of its employees."

One aspect of the company's work which received much
publicity befcre, during, and after the strike was its welfare
programme. This programme, which was intended to improve
living conditions in the camps, had beguﬁ in 1881 when Dr.

R. W. Corwin was appointed by the Colorado Coal and Iron
Company to organize the Medical Department. Under his guldance
the Minnequa Hospital, with a capacity of L0 beds, was built

in 1882, Located in Pueblo where the company had an important
steel plant, the hospital was enlarged in 1892 and again in

1897 giving it in the latter Year a capacity of 90 beds.,

————

1

George P. West, United States Commission on Industrial
Relations, Report on the Colorado Strike (Washington, 1915),
Pe 563 hereinafter cited West Report.

2

The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, p. 5. Italics mine.



Even this proved inadequate and hospital tents were added
for temporary needs until the proposed new buildings would
be erected. The increased number of employees occasioned
by the opening of new coal and iron mines and the huilding
of new mills at the steel plant made it necessary to expand
hospital accomodations. Completed in 1902, the new hospital
had a capacity of 228 beds. In 1917 a two-story building
was constructed for the Nurses homes the following year,

edditions to the laundry equipment and fire protection were
1

made,

Closely connected with the hosplital service was the
Sociological Department. In the 1880's the company had
established kindergartens in two of its mining campse. The
success of the project had prompted the company to enlarge
it. Consequently, in 1901 the deﬁartment, with Dr. Corwin
in charge, was formed.2 The order creating the department
stateds 'It shall have charge of all matters pertaining to
education and sanitary conditions and any other matter which
would assist in bettering the conditions under which our men
live,'

Besides exercising control over education, the

department had also under its auspices company and club

1

The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, pp. 10-11.
2

John A. Fitch, "The Steel Industry and the People
in Colorado", Survey, 3 February, 1912, p. 1712,

616 John W. Mills, "Coal Trust", Arena, 6 January, 1906,
p. 616, A



houses, recreation rooms, and all religious activity in the
1

camps.

The company's motives in creating the department were
more often praised than questioned. The Cutlook, pleased to
note the good feelings existing between management and the
miners, concludeds "the sense of responsiblility thus shown
by this Western mining company in seeking to ameliorate the
condition of its employees and to beautify their surroundings
furnlshes'an example which Eastern operators might well
emulate."2 The sociological work, maintained one Journalist,
was not designed to throw a sop to the men or to the unions
since tﬁe'company operated on the open shop system, which
ﬁeant that no individual was hired or discharged fé6r belonging
to a union., This work, he went on, found its reward in the
loyalty of the great majority of the employees and in the
cooperation which they gave in all the company's efforts to
improve their condition. Though it may have been true, as
he contends, that the majority of the men were content with
that particular department, it was not true, as he implies,
that they were happy with all other company-initiated projects.
Certainly the majority were unhappy with the company store
and payment in seripe. Charlotte Teller, one of the better-

known welfare workers of the time, came closer to the truth

1
FltCh' pp- 1712-3.
2

"A Western Mining Company's Sociological Work",
Outlook 72 (September 20, 1902): pn. 149«150,
' 3
Lawrence Lewis, "Uplifting 17,000 Employees",
World's Work 9 (March 1905): p. 5950,
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when she lauded the company's kindliness and "high soclological
conscliousness" but took issue with the paternalistic nature

of the venture. She felt that the workers were dissatisfied
because they had no clear voice in its administration, but

at the same time they were "its involuntary supporters."1

Colorado labor history in the first decade of the
twentieth century 1s a story of hopoe, defeat, frustration,
and renewed hope. The United Mine Workers of Amei‘ica2 played
a central role in this story.

The UMWA had made its appearance in Colorado in the
last years of the nineteenth century. Surmounting many d4if-
ficulties attendant on a fledgeling organization, it had
organized District 15, including Colorado, in 1900. Paid-up
membership for its first year was close to one thousand.
These early successes had prompted the union to make certain
demands. Among others, the unlon had asked for checkweighmen,
abolition of the company store system, and compliance with
the state law on seml-monthly payment in cash. These demands

represented the then major complaints of Colorado miners.,

With greaz celerity, the companies had refused all the union's

requests,

1

Charlotte Teller, "The Lahor War in Colorado®,
Harper's Weekly 48 (January 9, 1904)s p. 55
2

Hereafter referred to as the UMUA.

United Mine Workers Journal il (January 24, 1901):
P. 73 heﬁeinafter cited UMWJ.

F. J. Harne, "Organized Labor in the Anthracite
Coal Fields", Outlook 71 (May 24, 1902)s pp. 275-6.
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This early setback did not dismay the union. One
trade unionist admitted that conditions had not yet reached
the degree of perfection desired, but his comvarison of con-
ditions in 1901 with those of years before showed that or-
ganlzation had done much for the worker.1 Others, however,
did not share his buoyant optimism. District 15 Secretary-
Treasurer John Simpson decried the CF&I's anti-union prac-
tices which made many workers desirous of leaving the state,
but remained behind because they hadn't the means to do so.2
District President Ralph Prukop continued the attack on the
CF&I. He inveighed the company for its store system, its
use of scrip, and its control of public officials.3 The
union's pessimism was heightened by lack of finances. This
state of affalrs persisted until 1903, at which time the
international declded to send monetary and physical help.

The latter came in the form of Vice-President Thomas L. Lewis
who, together with the new district president William Howells,
began an organizational campaign. The reéults were meagre
with only 15 per cent of the 11,000 state miners joining and,
of these, most were from the northern area,uwhereas the major
corporations had their mines in the southern district.

Despite the paucity of its membership, the union,

when summer came, felt sufficlently strong to make public

1
E. P. H. Green, UMWJ 12 (December 12, 1901): p. 3.

2
5 « Simpson, UMWJ 12 (February 6, 1902)s: p. 6.
UR. Prukop, UMWJ 13 (May 3, 1902)s p. 6.

Elsie Gluck, John Mitchell (New York: The John Day
Company, 1929), p. 167,
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its grlevances and demands. In an open letter to Governor
James Hamllton Peabody and the public, Howells enumerated

the miners' grievances: company store, violation of state
labor laws, employment of immligrants. He then outlined the
miners' demands: eight-hour day, checkwelghmen, 20 per cent
increase in wages, abolition of the scrip system. The letter
concluded with a virtual ultimatum: either the coal overators

would meet representatives of the union or else a strike would
1

ensue,

It will be observed that in its early demands, the
union did not include union recognition, which ﬁould become
the root:-cause of the 1913-1914 strike. The omission was
not fortultous. Realizing its limited strength, the union,
if it hoped for any kind of success, could not but stick to
bread and butter issues. This line of attack would not im-
mediately bring about the desired end, but it would firmly
implant the union among the miners. From this base, it could,
at a time when 1t had acquired more experience and resources,
maxe the demand for recognition.

' Displaying great alacrity, the CF&I, through one of
its top executives, tersely'refused to be represented in a
conference with officials of the UMWA, though it would be
willing to meet a committee of its own employees. It was
the company's contention that it had, until then, success-

fully settled differences with its own men without the inter-

1

‘ William Howells to Jomes Hamilton Peabody and the
Pubﬁic at Large, August 27, 1903, UKMWJ 14 (September 10, 1903):
De 4.
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ference of any third ovarty and would thus continne this
policy. The company was thorourhly comvnlacent: should the
miners strike, it would have enough men in its empnloy to

1
produce sufficient coal for its smelters.

The CF&I's clear exoosition of its intention did not
augur well for the union. Soon, other small operators came
out against the demands. Temporarily dismayed, the local
officials quickly recovered. They brought the miners together
to vote on strike action. After receiving a mandate from the
worxers, they travelled to Indianavolis in order to secure
the aporoval of the national organization.2 Before assenting,
the latter attempted to settle by inviting the CF&I to a con-

ference. On behalf of the company, General Manager J. F.

Welborn wired President John Mitchell:

We do not think your organization is authorized
to reoresent our miners, as very few of them
belong to it. If you understand the situation

as 1t really is, you no doubt regard the inciting
of any further industrial digturbance in Colorado
as lll-advised and criminal.

The company's blunt refusal left the national organization
hesitant. The local officials, uncertain of the outcone,
returned home.u Finally, in October, Mitchell wrote Howells
that since he had exhausted all means to meet the overators

and settle the issue, he gave the district the authority to

S ———————

1

J.F. Welborn, Denver Post, cited in UMWJ 14
(September 17, 1903)s p. 1.
2

Gluck, p. 168,

J.F. Welborn to J. Mitchell, October 7, 1903,
cited 1n4McGovern, p. 117,

Gluck, p. 168,
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call the strike. At the same time, Mitchell reminded Howells
that the men should conduct themselves well, that they "should
be admonished to observe the law, and under no circumstances
should they permit themselves to be provoked into the com-
mission of unlawful acts."1

Such stroneg backing from the national organization
restored some of the local union officials' confidence; the
Wworkers' response to the strike call certainly restored the
rest. Though the card-carrying memhers were few, fully 95
ber cent of the state's miners qult work. Even in the CF&1,
a notorious bastion of the open shop, two-thirds of the 3,000
miners joined the strike.2

The northern ovperstors immediately made some wage
concessions, but the miners, in convention, rejected them,
On November 21, the operators reiterated their previous offer,
This time, the national organization conducted a secret vote
anong the miners. The results showed that a majority of the
miners wished to return to work. By the end of the month,
the northern men were back on their jobs.

While the strike was settled in the north, the struggle
continued in the south. The operators there began to forcibly
import strikebreakers and evict miners from their homes.

Even the state, by making recourse to martial law and jalling

1

John Mitchell to William Howells, October 26, 1903,
UMWJ 14 (November 12, 1903)s p. 1,
2

"The Colorado Coal Strike", Ouflook 75 (December
5 1903)% p. 763,

“Gluck, p. 170.
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1

union men, came to the ald of the operators.

The seriousness of the sltuation brought Mitchell
to Colorado. After reassuring the strikers that Indianapolis
wWould continue to supoort them, Mitchell, hoving to get some
sympathy and help, held a conference with the governor., The
meeting quickly convinced Mitchell that Peabody was no friend
of labor. Mitchell could have avoided the dead end if he
had consulted with Howells who, before the strike had begun,
had received an unequivocal letter from the governor. Peabody

had written:

If you wish to idle, that is your right, but you
should not compel some other person who desires
to labor, to remain idle with you. You are
looking at the labor question from an entirely
érroneous point of view, and so long as you
maintain your present feelings of belligerency
and of opoosition to law and order, gou will
find 1life an unpleasant one to live,

The governor was personally warning organized labor that ifr
it interfered with men willing to work it would be prosecuted,
Mitchell returned East empty-handed,

With the operators and the State presenting a united
front against it, the union stood on weak ground. The optime
ism of 1903 gave way to the anguish of 1904, By the summer
" of the latter year, the local union officials found themselves
minus another ally, more correctly, without the funds of the

national organization., Simpson issued a call to organized

i
Charles E. Stangeland, "The Preliminaries to the
Labor War in Colorado", Political Science Quarterly 23
(March 1908); p. 1, ’
2

J.H. Peabody %o . Howells, August 14, 1903, cited
in Melvin Dubofsky, We Shall BRe A1] (Chicagos Quadrangle
Books, 1969), PpP. 48=9,
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labor and sympathizers to send funds, but the resnonse was
not quite what he had hooed for.1 Cnce this eleventh hour
effort to salvage the stri're hnd falled, the Union had no
other alternative but to adnit defeat and call off the strixke.
By the autunn of i904, the situation in Colorado mines was
back to normal.2

At the 16th Annual Convention of the UNWA, delegates,
district officers, and natlonal officials tried to assess the
Treasons for the failure of the strike, 1In thgir analysis,
they concluded that the forces opoosing them, the overators
and the State, were too overwheiming to he overconme. However,
further discussions revealed that blame could not be solely"
attributed to the opposition. BRohert Randell; one of the
northern local leaders and vart-time organlizer for the more
radical Western Federation of Miners, accused Mitchell of
first sekd@ing out the northexrn miners by arranging an agree-
ment with the northern operators 3nd second by withdrawing
the funds of the national office.

Virtually every national board member came to the
defense of the oresldent, but no one did it so effectively
as Vice-President Tom Lewis. He reminded the convention that
Mitchell, even though against the extension of the stri&e

to the southern dlistrict, went along with the local officials
—

1
J. Simpson, UiWJ 15 (July 24, 1904)s p. 2,

2
Chris Evans, UtkJ 15 (November 24, 1904)s p. 1,
3

[P
Uilid 15 (February 9y 1905): p. 2.

UMWJ 15 (February 9, 1505): po. 2-7,
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SO as not to collide with them. Roth the decisions to settle
in the north and to cut orf the funds to the local were the
Tresponsibility of all the hoard nemnbers, added Lewis, More-
over, Mitchell had not stopoed UMWA locals in other states
fron sending contrinutions. By March, concluded Lewis, the
strike in the south should have been called off since there
was no prosvect for victory.1 Indirectly, the Vice-President
was claiming that the southern conflict wasg lost even before
it had started.

Mitchell, present at the convention angd the one most
directly concerned, had the final word. Essentially, he second-
ed Lewis. Settlement in the north, he added, was the correct
policy consldering the market conditions at the tinme, Mitchell

in turn accused Randell of being misinformed and implied that

Charles Moyer, president of the Western Federation of Miners,
2
was the agent oprovocateur,

The position and action of the WFM during the strike
might be the key to the question of whether Mitchell was
guilty or not. According to Elsie Gluck, Mitchell's blographer,
the WFM disagreed with the president's "conservative aponroach”
towards labor problems.3 This aporoach manifested itself
IWhen Mitchell effected a settlement in the north. As a
retaliatory meéasure, the WFM could plcture the president asg

a friend of the overator and thus discredit him with the niners.
——

1

UMWJ 15 (February 9, 1905): p. 4,
o .
3ULIWJ 15 (February 9, 1905): p. s,

Gluck, p. 167,
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Most probably this is what the organization, through its
spokesman Randell, attempted., Unfortunately for the Fede-
ration, Randell was not believed. More important, the pos-
8ibility of an amalgamation of the two organlzations was
indefinitely laid aside.

The UMWA recovered slowly from its resounding defeat,
Between 1905 and 1910, its organizers made few inroads in
Colorado, especially in the southern fields. Unionists and
local officials frequently complained of the Federation's
attempt to establish dual unions, or of the CF&I's political
domination of Las Animas and Huerfano counties and its hiring
of deputy'sheriffs to banish incoming organizers.1 By 1910,
the union's progress in the south was aenemic, but the pros=-
pect 1n the north looked brighter,

On April 2, 1910, after it had decided to make a
full™fledged organizational drive in Colorado, the UMWA called
& strike in the northern fields. Much to its chagrin, the
conflict dragged on for two years. The union had originally
hoped for a speedy victory after which it would have con-
centrated all its forces in the south. By March 1912, the
union had settled with three of the companies, but most
operators continued the struggle.2

Meanwhile, conditions in the southern fields were

improving for the miners and the union was also making some

T ———

1 .

John McLennan, UMiJ 16 (July 27, 1905): p. 1.
Louls Nuenthel, UiWJ 16 (May 5, 1906): P. 5.
Thomas Kirby, UMWJ 17 (May 9, 1907): p. 1.

2

UMWJ 22 (March 14, 1912): p. 2.
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progress. The miners received an increase in wages and were
ﬂ

allowed to use several checkwelghmen. Union oreanizers, how-
ever, were exverlencing such difficulty in entering the coal
canps that one prominent unionist advised miners to stay -
away fron Colorado.2 Despite this difficulty, the UMVWA was
able to open offices in Trinidad, Florence, VWalsenburg, and
Agullar, all located at the heart of the CF&I proverties.

It was the belief of Edward L. Doyle, Secretary of District
15, that £he mine operators, feeling the heat, granted the
miners an eight-hour day, two-weeks‘pay, and abolished the

3 .
serip systemn.

'By early 1913, the strike in the north was at a
standstill. The national and local officials were faced with
two alternatives: either allow the strike to die a natural
death or find some new line of attack. Agreement on the
latter course brought international Vice-President Frank
J. Hayes to Colorado.u

Immediately upon his arrival, Hayes took matters into
his own hands. Hls first action was to set up a policy com-
mittee, consisting of himself, Doyle, District President John
L. HMcLennan, and international board member John R. Lawson.
Hayes then successfully brideed the gap between local and

national officials. Finally, he set himself the task of
1

Edward L. Doyle, UliWJ 22 (May 9, 1912): v. 6.
2 -

John R. Lawson, UWWJ 23 (August 1, 1912)s p,. 6.
3
4Edward L. Doyle, UMWJ 24 (July 24, 1913): p. 8,

UnWd 23 (April 24, 1913): p. 1.
UidJd 23 (May 8, 1513): p. 7.
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finding a way toc stave off defeat in the north. A qulck
survey of the region led him to the conclusion that tre con-
flict in the north could never be won until it was extended
to the entire state. One of the ma jor causes for the long
duration of the strugele and the apnarent defeat of the union,
reasoned Hayes, was the relative facility with which strie-
breakers could be imported from the southern fields.1
Hayes's solution was welcomed not only by his suhor-
dinates but also by the national executive. 3y mid-August,
Hayes and his team were ready to tesf the idea. On August
26, 1913, the connlttee sent a letter to every onerator in
the staée'requesting him "to meet us in joint conference for
the purpose of anlcably adjusting all polnts at issue in the
present controversy." Oonosition to the union movement, con-
tinued the comnittee, could not last forever; noreover, all
operators who had bargained with the union had remained
satisfied.2 Unfortunately for the union, 1ts first overture
went to naught with only two small onerators caring to answer.3
Undaunted, the committee made another nDrovosal two
weeks later. On Septemher 8, they sent a letter 8iving notice

of a joint convention of miners ang operators to he held st

Trinidad. Calline the meeting for Seotembher 15, they requested

————————— e

1
Unidd 24 (August 24, 1913): v. 1,
2

‘ United Mine Workers of America Policy Committee to
Operators, August 26, 1613, Testimony of Rdward L. Doyle,
¢cIR, 8, p. 7031,
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Edward Berman, Labor Disoutes and_the President of

the United 35tates (lew Yorx: Colunmbhia Unlversity Fress, 1524,
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1

that every ooerator be nresent. The convention net on the
established date, hut, not survrisingly, no comvany sent any
representatives. Desplite the refusal, the miners went on
With thelr meeting. During the two-day convention, the miners
took turns denouncing the ooerators. The convention closed
on a posltive note with the miners making public their demands.
First on the list of union demands was recognition of the UMNWA,
Secondly, the union asked for a ten per cent increase in wages.
The other flve demands called for the companies to ohey state
laws with respect to the eight-hour day, checkwelighmen, and
freedom to trade in any store.2

Meanwhile, as the unlon was layine out its plans of
attack, CF&I officials, though seeking to retain their con-
posure, were plainly disturbed by the lahor agitation. On
September 4, Bowers wrote Rockefeiler that "union agitators"®
were threatening to call a strike:; their actions were keening
company officials "ln a state of unrest."” Two days later,
in his letter to director J. H. McClement, Welhorn emphasized
that under no clrcumstance would the overators recognize the
"lawless" UNMWA. All was not bad news, Welborn reassured him,
for only a small percentage of the company's men bhelonged to

the union and, what was more important, the public and the

1

Unlted Mine Workers of America Policy Committee to
Operators, September 8, 1913, Testinmony of J. L. McLennan,
CIR, 7, g. 6515.

Testimony of Edward L. Doyle, CIR, 8. p. 7025.
3

L. M. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., September
4, 1913, CIR, 9, p. 8413,
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1
press were xenerally favorable to the employers.

On the eve of the strike, anxiety and insecurity
mounted. Four days before the strike, Bowers exvressed his
concern to director Starr J. lHurphy; at the same time, he
attempted to justify the company's position. The men had
no reason to strike, he wrote, since the company had already
net thelr demands, including the contentious elght-hour day.
The only question which still divided the men and the company
was unlon recognition, something which the CF&I flatly refused
to do.2

These diametrically opposed positions did not augur
well for a peaceful settlement of the issue. Views had
become so polarized that they could envender hu* one results
a strike. On Septemher 23, the southern Colorado miners,
numbering about 8,000, joined their northern brethren. At

3
the CF&I, about 70 per cent of the 6,000 miners struck.

[y

J.F. Welborn to John H. McClement, September 6,
1913, CIR, 8, p. 7116. _

L.M. Bowers to Starr J. Murphy, Seotember 19, 1913,
CI®, 9, po. 8U415-6.
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CHAPTER 2 -~ CAUSES OF THE STRIXE

All Colorado operators, and the CF&I in varticular,
had to contend with many =ccusations which held them res-
ponsible for the outhreak of the strike. These accusations
were usually broken down into three categoriess social,
political, and econonic.

John Lawson revealed, before the Commission on
Industrial Relations, the importance of absentee ownershlp
as a cause of the strike. He pointed out that no prominent'
company officlal or director had visited the mines recently;
this factor had caused management to lose contact with the
aspirations of the grass roots element. He concluded his
attack by voicing a sentiment probably shared by countless

other miners:

An employer vwho 1s never seen, and whose power
over us is handed down from man to man until
there 1s a chain that no individual can climhg
our llves and our liherties paszsed over as a
birthday gift or by will; our energies and
futures canitalized by financiers in distant
clties; our conditions of lahor held of less
account than dividends; our masters too often
men who have never seen us, who care nothing
for us, and will not, or can not, hear the cry
of our desoair.1

Welborn's testimony corroborsted this charge., The
too management of the CF&I, he told the Commission, con-
sisted of thirteen directors, six of whom resided in Denver

and the rest in New York. Meetings, which were the exception

1
Testimony of Joha R. Lawson, CIR, 8, p. 8006.
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rather than the rule, were held in these two cities. An
executive committee comvosed of five members, four of whom
lived in Denver, acted upon most of the matters that might
otherwise have come before a board, and their actions were
later apsroved by full meeting of the board. Very little
conmunication existed between Denver and New York, and ab-
solutely no communication as to labor conditions at the com-
pany's properties. Furthermore, at stockholders' meetings,

general trends of the business were discussed but labhor
matters were never brought up.1

The junior Rockefeller reveatedly admitted before
the Commission his failure to maintain an interest in lahor
problems before the strike. Though he acknowledged his
ignorance of lahor conditions in Colorado, Rockefeller felt
that this was justified since such matters were the oreroga-
tive of the executive officers. As he told the Commission:
labor matters, "so far as they are within the control of a
corporation, are matters for which the officers of the cor-
poration are primarily responsible."2

In no uncertain terms, the testimony given by the
president and chlef stockholder of the CF&I reflected the
company's indifference towards its own men, an indifference
fostered by local officials who did not consider lahor matters

sufficiently imoortant to bhring them before hoard meetings,

and by New York directors who did not have the time or who

1

Testimony of J.F. Welborn, CIR, 7, po. 6552-3,
2

Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 8, p. 7765,
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were unwilling to take it to visit the mines.

The company town was resmonsible for other social
evilse Housing, frequently mentioned by the miners as one of
their basic grievances, was a sipnificant indication of the
deplorable condition in which they ‘lived. Reverend Eurene S.
Gaddls, sugerintendent of welfare work at the CF&I for many
Years until he resigned following the strike, was in a good
poslition to describe the situation. The comnnany, he testi-
fied, owned and rented "hovels, shacks =and dugouts" which
were unfit for humsn beings and which were "little removed
from the vigsty make of dwe].lingrs."1 The ponulation was so
congested at the Sopris mine, reported the camp doctor there
to Gaddis, that whole families were crowded in one room.z
Moreover, the comoany's housing scheme left the miner little
independence. 1If, for examdle, a miner would go on strike,
he and his family were immediately thrown out of their home.3
Lawson's suggestion to alleviate the latter orohlem, that
the miner be given the right to buy his own home, was never
taken uo by the company.l+

Though overstors acknowledged the existence of the
problem, they offered a justification for it. If, as was

testified, housinz conditions were so bad, stated J. C.

Usgood, now president of the Victor-American Fuel Comnany,

1 .
Testimony of Eugene S. Gaddis, CIR, 9, p. 8402,
2

Testimony of Eugene S. Gaddis, CIR, 9, p. 8492,
3
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1
he had never received =ny complaints on the subject. The
nature of the mining canps, contendied Welborn, rendered it
necessary to build houses for the miners, thoush he did not
exolain why they could not own them. However, he did admit
that this system did not have to he nermanently maintained,

speclally in some camps which had homes more than thirty
2

years old,

The company's tight control of all aspects of social
life in ﬁhe town was also felt in the religious sphere. This
disprooortionate influence was revesled by an incident which
Heverend Daniel icCorkle, minister of the CF&I camn at Sunrise,
told the Commission. By publicly denouncing the part played
by the operators in the Ludlow battle, he had incurred the
wrath of company officials. Four months after the cleric
had delivered his sermon, Welhorn wrote Murohys

We have thought some of changing the minister

at Sunrise, but have reffained from taking a

course that would be unfair to him, or would

indicate a prejudice against him because of what

may have been simoly indiscreet stat&ments in

connection with the Ludlow outbhreak.

His reaction is rather restrained, but the letter does show
that Welborn had not forgotten the episode. Ultimately, the

.only reprimand received hy McCorkle was from his religlious

superior, who told him: "We sent you to 3Sunrise to preach

1

Testimony of J.C. Usgood, CIR, 7, p. 6436.
2

Testimony of J.F. Welborn, CIR, 7, p. 6557.
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1
the Gosvel and not 3ocialism."” The incident was enough to

convince McCorkle that the company's attitude went far in
explalning the dying out of the churches in Colorado camps.2

Another flaw 1n the social structure of the coal conm-
nunities was the disparate number of foreign emnloyees. Agi-
tators were largely to he blamed for the occurrence of the
strikxe, admitted Lawrence M. Larson, history orofessor at the
University of Illinois. But, went on the academic, the obe-
rators, through the hiring of a disprovortionate number of
immigrants, furnished the soil and 6onditions in which agi-
tators could not fall to succeed. Thomas M. Patterson,
.formerl& United States sSenator from Colorado and part owner
for the last ten years of two small mines, helieved that it
was the deliberate volicy of the CF&I to fi1l1 its mines with
forelgners of different countries. This system was set up so
as "to keep down as much as possible the cooneration of the
men toward any given end." The employers hired a variety of
nationalities, stated John lclennan, to prevent the men from
getting together and dlscussing their grievances.5 About 70
per cent of 1its workers were immigrants acknowledged the CF&I
in its defense; however, thls figure, Welhorn reminded the
Commission was applicable to the entire mining industry of

1

Testimony of D.5. McCorkle, CIR, 9, p. 8542,

iTestimony of D.3. McCorkle, CIR, 9, bp. 8546,

- L.ii. Larson to E.?. Greene, June 28, 1914, King
Papers, 53 (Ottawas Public Archives of Canada), p. 20741.

Testimony of T.ii. Patterson, CIH, 7, po. 6455-6500.

Testimony of J.L. McLennan, CIR, 7, p. 6531,
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1
the United States.

To the physiographic and social conditions of the
coal camos can also be attributed the most frequently mention-
ed grievance, the company store. The Colorado Supoly Company,
operating a number of stores at the camos, faced no competition
at more than half of these camps. On a capital of $700,000,
the company made an annual profit of 20 per cent.2 The miners?
baslc grievance against the system was not so much the high
pPrices as against the manner in which they were made to pa-
tronize the stores. Thus, Gaddis testified that the manager
of the fuel department, E. H. Weltzel, "instructed the super-
intendent, and so he informed me aBout three months ago, to
use his influence to have emvloyees trade at the store.™ In
addition, one store manager had warned a housewife that her
husband would be discharged if she did not buy her groceries
from him.3 This evidence led George P. West, the Industrial
Relations Commission investigator, to the following conclusions
"the miners risked the displeasure of the local officials,
and the possibility of discharge, if they did not trade at
the company stores."4 One company spokesman denied that the
miners were compelled to trade at the comvany store or dis-
charged for trading with outsiders, but he did admit that the

company reaped large orofits.

e ——————————————
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Already accused of fostering certain economic and
soclal evlils, the companies were also severely criticized
for their interference with state politics. Helen Ring
Robinson, who reoresented the city and county of Denver in
the Colorado senate, accused the CF&I of exerting political
control over Las Animas and Huerfano counties. All companies,

she stated,

reached out beyond the boundaries of their
Principality and made and unmade governors:
men who desire positions of high place in
Colorado would be very loath to antagonize
them, whether they lived in lLas Animas or
Routt County, or in Denver, and it would
not matter in that case to which political

party they belonged.l
The practice of backing those candidates who furthered their
Reasures was 1llustrsted in the gubernatorial campalgn of
1914, 1In that election, the operators succeeded in electing
a Republican for governor and a Democrat for attorney general,
At the same time, while publicly camnaigning for a Prohibition
amendment to the state constitution, they were privately
urging the candidates to accept a law and order nlatform.2
Fred Farrar, the Colorado attorney general. revorted
the existence in Las Animas an Huerfano counties of "a very
- perfect political machine, just as much a machine as Tammany
in New York." The political boss in these two counties was

Sheriff Jefferson Farr. The Cr&I, "in common with other coal

companies in Colorado, worked Jointly with Sheriff Farr with

St —————

1
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Testimony of I..H. Bowers, CIR, 9, p. 8773.
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a view to controlling the political situation in that part
of Colorado", admitted Rowers, Furthermore, he acknowledged
that the CF&I was party to the "unserupulous" and "notorious"
system, and was "very instrumental in establishing that
deplorable condition in southern Colorado.™

Control of the political machine achieved certain
Pbjectives which proved very beneficial to the company. One
of these was the exclusion of union organizers. Senator Pat-
terson declareds "I have no doubt but that just as soon as
those in charge of working those miﬂes discovered that there
Wwas a unlon man there he wag discharged, not giving as the
reason that he was a union man; but for some other reason."2
Weltzel, contradicting what Welborn had told the Commission
on the matter, admitted that the charge was true.LF

Political power also meant that those miners who com-
Plained of some grievances were severely dealt with by the
camp marshals in the companies! payroll. A federal grand
Jury at Pueblo reported in November, 19173:

Many camp marshals, whose apoointment and

salaries are controlled by local companies,

have exercised a system of esvionage and have

resorted to arbitrary powers of volice control,

acting in the capacity of judge ang Jury and

passing the sentence:s 'Down the canyon for

you', meaning therety that the miner S0 addressed

was discharged and ordered to leave the camp,
upon miners who had incurred the enmity of the

et —_——
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superintendent or oit boss for having comnlained

of a real grievance or for other cause. These,

taken with brutal assaults hy camp marshals upon

miners, have produced general dlssatisfaction

among the latter. I!lliners generally fear to

complain of real grievances hecause of the danger

of thelr discharge or of thelr hein§ placed in

unfavorable positions in the mines,.
Under such a system, the miner's civil rights were practically
non-existent, Farr's mastery was so overwhelming that he
could go so far as ap»ointing jurors who could not even speak
English. In that kind of a situation, a miner had no chance

2

of getting Jjustice, something to which even Bowers concurred.

Political control had its greatest reward in the out-
right evqsion of state labor laws. That the lack of law en-
forcement was an impeortant issue was revealed by the fact that
five of the striking miners' seven demands were for law vio-
lations. If the companies had obeyed the laws, asserted one
officlal, the strike would not have occurred.

One of these laws was the use of scrip in the vayment
of wages, the scrip to be used later in huying merchandise
at the company store. The Colorado legislature had made the
system illegal in 1899 but the companies had continued to
violate the statute. The CF&I had used scrip until the early
part of 1913, but it had beﬁn kept so long "entirely for the

convenience of the miners." The company spokesman neglected

1

Pueblo Federal Grand Jury Report, November 1913,
cited in Samuel Yellen, American Labor Strugesles (New York:
SOA- Russell' 1956)' p‘ 207.
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to add the advantages of the system for the CF&I. When one
becomes aware of all the legal violatlons perpetrated by the
operators, it seems ironical to notice that they ohjected to
the UMWA because it was a "lawless" organization.

The charges of political control made agalnst the
coal companies could be doubhted if they had not been verified
by the private correspondence of the most important overatore.
Four months before the strike, Bowers had sent to director

Charles 0. Heydt a revealing letter on the CF&I's political

practices.

The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, [wrote Bowersl,
for many years were accused of helng the political
dictator of southern Colorado, and in fact, were a
mighty power in the entire state. When I came here
(1908) it was said that the CF&I Co. voted every
man and woman ln thelr emvloy, without any regard
to their being naturalized or not, and even their
nules, it must be remarked, were registered, if
they were fortunate enough to possess names. Any-
how, a political department was maintained at a
heavy expense. I had before me the contributions
of the CF&I Co. for the camnalgn of 1904, amounting
to $80,605, vald out personally by President Hearme.
ese The decent newspapers everlastingly lamvnooned
the CF&I Co. at every election, and I am forced to
say the comvany merited, from a moral standpoint,
every shot that was fired into their camp.

Thls state of affalirs, contiuued the Chairman, had ceased
when Welborn had become president in 1907. After that, no
money was pald to any politiecian or political party. More-
over, no politiclian was allowed to enter the camps, and all
subordinate officlals were forbidden to influence the workers
to vote'for any particular candidate. Fundamentally, while

attempting to whitewash the present administration of which

1
Testimony of J.F. Welborn, CIR, 7, p. 6590.
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he formed an interral vart, Zovwers felt no qualms about
driving a nall in the coffin of the previous one. Put, as
his letter further revealed, it was untrue that the conpany
no longer meddled in volitics. Stated Bowerss “"We have not
lobbled in the legislature but have cone directly to the

1
governor and other ahle men and have demanded fair treatment"
Going directly to the governor, he mignt heve added, saved
money and trouble. This modernization of corvorate pnolitics
was well demonstrated durine the strike when Governor Elias
M. Amnons was oressured into rescinding an order orejundicial
to the ooverators.

Not surprisingly, CF&I sookesmen, vis-a-vis the out-
break of the strike, attempted to vindicate the company. The
Cr&I had so well discharged its duty towards the miners, as-
serted Welborn, that the majority‘was satisfled with company
policy. 1In an arrogant and complacent tone, he summarized:

We had ... for years spent a great deal of time

and money in imoroving conditions ahout our

plants, and the men had come to realize that

Wages, living conditions and general treatment

accorded them by suverintendents - in short,

all working conditions at CF&I mines - were not

only better than they had found in other states,

but were more favorable than at mines of other

companies in this state.

Indeed, working conditions were so much "hretter" that the
majority was not satisfied but went on strike,

Having no other reasons to exonorate the CF&I and its

1

L.M. Bowers to Charles u. H:ydt, lay 13, 1913,
CIR, 9, p. 8411, .
" 2 _

J.F. Welborn to John D. Reckefeller, Jr., August 20,
1914, CIR, 7, p. 6679.
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Ren, company spokesmen tried to discredit the union and the
entire idea of collective bargaining., First they dealt with
the tangible., Weitzel believed that many good men hkelonged
to the UMWA, but he condemned the organization as a whole
because it taught "class hatred."l Bowers, having nothing
good to say about the UMWA, simply laheled it a "eriminal
organization."™ After this sweeping generalization, he went
on to state his reasons for objecting to union recognition:
(1) the qﬁality of output was inferior; (2) the overator lost
the right to control his business.2 'Likewise, Welborn had
many good reasons, which he made known to hoth the Commisgsion
and Rockefeller, for disliking the union and consequently, for
not acceding to the miners® first demand, union recogni?ion.
The UlWA, said the president, had violategd contracts made with
operators in other states; it had brought to Colorado a "lawless
elenent" which had rallroaded through the strike; and, most
important, a ma jority of the miners at the CF&I nreferred
working under open shop conditions.

The company's attitude towards collective hargaining
was on the same plane as its attitude towards the UMWA. The
Junior Rockefeller conceded to lahor the right to organize,

but with one proviso, the worker's freedom to associate or

sttt s tr—
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1
not with lahor organizations. In other words, the head of

the Cr&I, through a firm enunciation of the freedom of con-
tract theory, was clearly saylns that no union was welcomed
at his company. His sentiments were corroborated by Welborn,
Collective bargalning in the form advocated by the unions,
he claimed, would not create better conditions for thq work-
men at the CF&I and "would work great injury" on the operator.
However, some form of collective bargaining already existed
at the company--the men were free to go to company officials
with their grievances or with their sug.c:estions.2 That may
have been so, but thers was also the posslbility that an out-~
spoken critie, without a union to give hinm leverage, ran the
risk of losing his job.

It has been seen that company feelings towards the
UMWA and collective bargaining reflected the absolute authority
of the employer. The arguments put forth to Justify this were
primarily negatives a plethora of words exoounding the eviils
of unionism and of workers who did not cooperate with their
enployer,

Unlon spokesmen, like their company counterparts,
.attempted'to dispel some of the opnosition's claims. Vice-
President Hayes, in direct rebuttal to a CF&I statement that

the workers had not freely chosen to go out on strike, told

1

New York Times, 7 Aoril 1914, sec. 1, p. 1.

Rockefeller held the same helief five years after
the strike was over. cCf. John D, Rockefeller, Jr.,
"Representation in Industry", Annals of the American Academy
of Political and Social Science 81 (January 1919): p, 172.
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the Commission that the national organization had not led the
local one by the nose. Instead, the execntive hoard had done
everything to avoid conflict, hut the overators' obstinate
refusal to meet the miners had forced the latter o resort

to thelr last weapon--the strike.1 To the company's contention
that the UMWA was a contract violator, Lawson had the following
answer: before the comvany could make such a statement, it
should itself stop violating every labor law in the state,

The comvany had made the claim, not so much for its aversion

to the union, but because it did not want to enter into a con-
tract with it. Such a condition, concluded Lawson, would have
meant a compliance with the state's labhor laws, the elimination
of the company store, and an increase in wages for the worker.2
Samuel Gompers, President of the American Federation of Labor,
wrote that the freedom of contract'clause advocated by the

CF&I was a device used by the sald comvany not to further the

interests of the non-union workers, as it claimed, but to eli-

3

minate union miners.

Essentially, the root cause for the occurrence of the
strike was a basic divergence on collective bargaining. On
the one hand, the comvanies argued that, had they surrendered
this right, they would have lost control of their business.

On the other hand, the worker, fully aware, or being made

1l
Testimony of Frank J. Hayes, CIR, 8, p. 7190.
2
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Testimony of John R. Lawson, CIR, 9, p. 8206.
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Samuel Gompers, "Organizing Despite the Grim Spectre",
American Federationist 21 (June 1914)s p. 480,
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aware, that acting as an individual had led him nowhere,
decided to join forces with others to make his demands more
effective. Recause of these two irreconcilable vnositions,
the companies' die-hard opnosition to collective hargaining

and the miners' die-hard commitment to the same, the strike

followed.
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CH&PTER 3 - THE OTRIKEs FREC. THE GUTRREAX TC LUDLOW

Even before the strike had begun the Federal goverrment
had made an attempt to avert it. (Cn the same day that the
miners held thelr convention in Trinidad, Ethelhert Stewart,
chief statisticlan of the Bureau of Labor Statistlcs of the
United stetes Department of Labhor, called at 26 Broad way, the
junior Rockefeller's MNew York office. As Rockefeller was ab-
sent, Stewart conferred with Murohy. The federal envoy told
Rocxefeller's secretary ahout the policy committee's letter to
the operators, the latter's refusal to revly, and the miners'
apoeal to the Secretsry of Labor to appnoint a mediator. He
then asked if it would be worth vhile for him to go to Colorado
since he did not wish to make é fruitless trip. HMurohy's
angwer was unequivocal: the matter "would have to he handled by
the executive officers in Colorado"™, as the eastern directors
"knew nothing ahout the conditions and wonld he unwilling to
maxe any suggestions to the executive officers."” To 3Stewart's
objectlon that Roc*efeller could cdetermine v»olicy, Murphy in-
~ slsted that hls boss would not interfere unless Rowers or VWel-
born requested it. Through the mouth of his closest aide,
the blueprint for Rockefeller's future volicy had hecome clear.

Falling in his efforts in the East, Stewart travelled

1
Berman, vo. 79-~80. ]
On the same day, Hurohy reported the conference to

Bowers. Cf. 3tarr J. sdurphy to L.ii. Bowers, Seotenher 16,
1913, CIR, 9, pn. 8413-4,
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west. Though "y the tire he arrived the strike had hegun,
Stewart remainegd hooveful. His first step, to "ring the
ooerators together in conference, failed misera®ly; his

second move, to hold seoarate meetings with Rowers, J.C.
Usgood, and D.W. Brown, president of the Rocky ilountain Fuel
Compvany, and the niners, proved more successful. Securing a
meeting was one thing but obtaining positive results was some-
thing else as Stewart qulckly discovered in his discussion
with Bowefrs. The Soard Chalrman not only cold-shouldered
stewart's prooosals but also emphasized that the CF&I would
continue to work vhatever mines 1t could and would stand out
against-the union "until our hones are hleached white as chalk
in these hoexy :iountaing." "We are right fronm every stand-
point", conciuded Bowers in renvorting the conference to
Rocxefeller, "and In justice to ourselves and our loyal men

we shall never recede an inch from the stand we have ta‘{en."1
In no uncertain terms, Bowers had made his comnany's vosition
crystal clears it was not interested in hargaining,

While Stewart wag trying to effect a settlement in
the'weeks following the outbreak of the strike, Bowers was
malntaining a regular corresvondence with New York. Writing
to Rockefeller in early October, Bowers gave a general account
of the strike situation. Some men vere returning to work, he
stated, but others, afraid of Violence, were staylne away,

The union had brought to Coldarado "a larze numher of slugrers
———

1
Berman, p. 80,

' L.¥. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., Septemher
29, 1913, CIR, 9, p. 84:8,
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and blecX hand foreigners from west Virginia", concluded
Bowers, and these, together with some miners, had attacked

a few coal camps. However, "our armed guards have so far been
able to orotect our mines." Changins the subject, Rowers
reaffirmed his determination to stay in the fight "until we
regain our right to manage this great industry for the hest
interest of all concerned.“1 This letter discloses two facets
of Bowers' personality and neither ancured well for a union
victory: he was tremendously loyal to the comvany's interests
and, as one liberal magazine asserted, "ohviously a survival
from a former economic age."2 His utterances on lshor-
management relations scarcely showed advancement over what

was sald the previous century. Bowers, li%e many nineteenth
century employers, neslected the vorking man and was unwilling
to recognize that the worker had any stake in the enternrise.
He was willing to socially uplift the worker, but this better~
ment could only be achieved through the emnloyer's henevolence;

any other agency was anathena.

Bowers' stand received the immediate sunnort of New

York.

We feel wrote Rockefeller that what you have done

1s right and fair and that the nosition which you

have taken in regard to the unionizing of the mines

is in the interest of the employees of the comnany.

Fhatever the outcone may he, we will stand by you

to the end.J

1

: L.¥X. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., October 3,

1913, CIR, 9, p. 841G,

2

"The Closed iind"™, liew Repuhlic 2 (May 1, 1915): P. 217,

3

Joha D. Rockefeller, Jr., to L.i. Jowers, Cctobher 6,
1913, CIR, 9, po». 8419-20, Italics Mine.
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ivo doubt, this letter was very encourazing to the Colorado
officlals. At the same tinme, it also strensthened the stand
of other oserators, who, after the letter was shown then,

reallzed that the younsg tycoon was placing himself unreservedly
1

behind them.

In his subsequent letter, Rockefeller once arain ap-
proved and encouraged the executive officers' position. "The
actions of the management", he sald, "are watched with great
interest by this office, 2nd its strong and just vosition will
not lack hacking at th1s4end.“? Though, in theory, enjoying
a maximum of power, the comnany's chief stockholder was willine,
in practice, to have a minimum of resnonsihility.

Rockefeller explained to Frank P. Walsh, Chairman of
the Commission, that the nature of a cornoration made mandatory
a subdivision éf power and responsibility. "Directors", stated
hockefeller, “"attend principally to the financial matters of
the corporatioﬁ, leaving the actual conduct of operations to
the officers. «.. Labor policies are initiated and determined
by the officers." And again: "The hiring and discharging of
men and the framing of agreements as respegﬁs the same are
functionsiwhich I have regarded as rightfully belonging to the
management and not the stockholders or directors."  Delegating
responsibility meant relying fully on local officials" revorts.

Slnce Bowers and Welhorn had been selected for their "éxpert

1

John A, Fltch, "What Rockefeller Knew and What He
Dida", survey, 21 August, 1915, p. 464,
2

John D. Rockefeller, Jre, to L.:#. Bowers, Cctobher
10, 1913, CIR, 9, p. 8420.
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Knowledge and familiarity" with labor matters, thelr reports
oﬁ such questions would be unquestionably accepted.1

Rockefeller's vosition was typical behavior in the
corporate world. George W. Perxins, director among others of
the United States Steel Corporation and International Harvester,
believed "in placing power and responsibility with executives
and holding them to a strict responsibility." Labor issues
Wwere "an executive matter", he continued, "and somewhat in the
nature of administrative work."2 The directors' duty "is to
select, as far as they xnow it, the prorer men to run the com-
pbany, and then let the people run it", testified John Pierpont
Morgan, a director in several corporations including United
States Steel. Those officials who have been selected have
"entire authority" on labor matters. A. Barton Hepburn,
"~ chairman of the Board of Directors of the Chase National Com-
pany and director in several other corporations, was of the
same opinion. Executive officlals have "full authority" over
labor questions, he stated, and as a director, "I have dis-
charged my duties in the selection of the officers ... and
given them that authority."b

In the meantime, Stewart's efforts to bring about a

settlement were not getting positive results. On October 9,

a committee of operators formed by the presidents of the three

1
Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 8, pp. 776L4-5,

2
Testimony of G.W. Perkins, CIR, 8, pp. 7599, 7602,

7792-3.

3
uTestimony of J.”?. liorgan, CIR; Y, po. 8088-y,

Testimony of A.B. Hepburn, CIR, 9, pp. 8248-9,
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largest couipanies involved in the dispute met Stewart at the
office of Governor Ammons. During the neeting, Stewart put
forth three oronosals and as-ed the conmittee to acceot any
one of thems (1) the ooerators and strike leaders to hold a
conference together; (2) the overators meet Ammons, officials
of the UiWA and himself for an informal dlscussion; (3) the
oderators give him their sidg of the story and sugrest sonme
method of ending the strike. After the committee had rejected
each one of these pronosals, Stewart warned that he would
report to the Secretary of Labor and naxe recommendations for
a Congressional investigation.2
In.spite of Stewart's efforts to find a solution to

the coafliet, he incurred the ennity of the operators, special-
ly Bowers. Two days following the conference, Bowers disclosed
thls animosity to Hockefeller. He began his letter by express-
ing his appreciation of kockefeller's endorsement of the
companies' position; the rest of the letter was an attack on
Stewart for his conciliatory nolicy towards organized lahor.
The federal mediator was blased, stated the Chairman, "for
he showed more concern in hearing the union's side rather

than listening to the ooerators' side unless it was in con-
| Terence with union officialsf" Bowers' remarks were grossly

unfalir since not once did he mention Stewart's nrooosals,

e ettt .

1
UMWJ 24 (Gctobver 16, 1913): De 2.
2

Berman, p, 81.

Testlmony of J.F. Welborn, CIR, 7, pp. 6595-6,
3
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Rockefeller, relying entirely on this one-cided revort, could
not but concur with the stand of his subordinate.

During the rest of Cctober, Ammons and Patterson con-
tinued where Stewart had left off. On the 26th of that month,
the Governor met separately with thé operators' committee, the
UMWA international President, John P. White, and other union
officials. The latter declared themselves ready to wailve union
recognition and wage increases if the operators would meet them
in conference. Ammons reported this willingness to Vielborn,
Osgood, and Brown, but thelr answer was unanimouss they would
maxe no concession whatsoever.1 The next day, the Governor
asked the operators' committee to draw up a statement whereby
the companies would respect the state lahor laws and, pending
termination of the strike, would rehire the miners who had
quit thelr work. Once again, the committee, taking no time
to consider this latest offer, flatly rejected 1t.2

| Meanwhile, conditions in the strixe district had wors-
ened. Pitched battles between mine guards and strikers had
resulted in the death of at least nine men. The courts or the
civil peace officers were unabie to handle the sltuation. BY
mid-Cectober, conditions had so deteriorated that the civil
authorities had asked the Governor to send the militia.3
Ammons, acceding to their demand on October 28, dispatched

state troops under the command of Adjutant General John Chase

1

Testimony of Alias M. Ammons, CIR, 7, P. 6412,
2

Testimony of Thomas M. Patterson, CIR, 7, Do. 6480-6,

_ Report of the Commanding General to the Governor,
Colorado, 1914, pp. 8-9; hereinafter cited Chase Revort.
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of the Colorado National Guard. The Gevernor ordered Chasge
to use the soldiers to protect the coal orooerties and any

miner who wanted to return to work, but not to assist the

1
oderators in the imoortation of strikebreakers,

Ammons' instruction forbidding state troops to escort
strikebreakers was bad news to the ooverators. It was not long
before the Governor was subjected to strong pressure to rescind

this order. Bowers gave Rockefeller a lengthy report of how

the various groups in the state overated:

You will be interested to know that we have been
able to secure the cooveration of all the hankers
of the city [Denvegj. who have had three or four
interviews with our little cowhboy governor,
agreeing to back the State and lend it all the
funds necessary to maintain the militia and afford
ample protection so that our miners could return
to work, or glve orotection to men who are anxious
to come up here from Texas, New Mexico, and Kansas,
together with some from States farther East.
Besides, the bankers, the chamber of commerce, the
real estate exchange, together with a great many
of the best business men, have been urging the
Governor to take steps to drive these vicious
agitators out of the State, Another mighty power
has been roundeg up in behalf of the operators hy
the gathering together of fourteen of the editors
of the most inmportant newspavers in Denver, Puehlo,
Trinidagd, Walsenburg, Colorado Sorings, and other
of the larger places in the State. They passed
resolutions demanding that the Governor hring this
stri%e to an end, as they found, unon most careful
€xamination, that the real lssue was the demangd
for recognition of the union, which they told the
Governor would hever be conceded by the overators
as 90 per cent of the miners themselves were non-
union men, and therefore that issue should be
dropned, ...

There probably has never been such oressure brought

1

Berman, p. 81.

Testimony of Elias M. Ammons, CIR, 7, pp. 6410-2.
Chase Revort, vo. 69-70,

The Governor had once been g ranchman.
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to bear upon “ny governor of this State as hasg bheen
nrought to bear upon Gov. Ammonsg, i

Bowers correctly reasoned, ag dig other orerators, that if

the Governor were bersuaded to reverse his command, sufficient
strixebreakers could e imported and the stri%e could then Hé
defeated. lioreover, in light of this letter, Bowers! repeated
assertions, hoth publicly and drivately, that the CF&I was no
longer involved in volitics after Welborn had become Dresident,
don't hold mueh water,

Ammons did rescingd his original instructions on the
28th of November, but before this date another attemot to
effect a settlement was made., 1In the middle of Novenmber,
Secretary of Lahor William B. Wilson, while making an officiajl
tour of the West, stonved over at Denver. The former UiWA
officer, lige Stewart, made hig first overture to Rockefeller,
Immediately uovon his arrival, Wilson wiregd Rockefeller and
asked him to use his "influence" to have representatives of
the operators meet répresentatives of the miners with a view
to finding a mutual basis for settlement.2 Rockefeller's reply
could have bheen foreseen: the nmatter wag entirely in the hands
of the local management, However, he did attemnt to Justify
"~ the company's refusal to meet union Tépresentatives, Since
only a few of the workers emdloyed by the CF&I were memhers

of the UHWA, he stated, the union Was unqualified to renresent

1

L., Bowers to John D, Rockefeller, Jr., November
18' 1913, CIR’ 9’ ppo 8“‘21"2.
2

William B, Wilson to John D.'Rockefeller, Jr.,
Novembher 20, 1913, CIR, +, p. BL22,
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the nen.

With the closing of the Rockefeller avenue, Wilson
hed no choice but to deal with the executive officers. On
novenver 20, he arranged z conference hetween the onerstors!
comnittee and three of their former emdloyees, nov striing
miners but not union officiels., At the close of the meetiﬁg.
smmons drev uop a letter calling for a settlement on the oronise
that the overstors would ohey the state lahar laws if the
miners would return to work.2 This oronosition, unanimously
rejected by the miners, not only came too late to have the
effect desired but it was also an admnission that the charges

3

of law violations were %true,

Despite the miners' refusal to acceot Ammons' oronosal,
wllson did not give up. Drawing up & letter of his own, he
reconnended that the fcllowing disouted points ke referred to
& board of arbitration comnosed of reoresentztives of roth
sides: the question of 2n increase in wages and, in Jlieu of
the oromosition of unicn recognition, the questicn of devising
a method by which future grievances and disnutes might he ad-
Justed without resorting to strikes. Finelly, nendiag the
4decision of the board, workx he resumed at the mines,

From the outset, the local nanagenent was susoicious

1
John D. Rockefeller, Jr., to Willienm 2. Wilson,
Novenber 21, 1913, @IR, 9, p. 8422,
2
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John A. Fitch, "the Colcrado Strike", survey 31
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end intransigent towards the Jecretary of Iabhar. Aftexr the
comnittee had rejected Wilson's recommendations, Bowers wrote
to Hockefeller:

I can see no oarticular ohjection tc the formation
of an arbitration hoard as supggested hy Secretary
wllson, nrovicding the 3 miners are nonunion men who
have remalned in the emnloy of the co=l onerators
during the strike, nut %o this I am sure that
nelther Secretary -1lson nor the lahor leaders
wounld consent.

Welborn, in reoporting to icClement, came stralght to the noint:

we reached no direct understanding: in fact, we
wanted none, as we viere almost sure that had an
understanding between the miners and ourselves
been reached it would have received the stamp
of anvroval of the officers of the organizstion
and in that way would have been twisted into_an
arrangement between us and the organirstlon.”

These two letters quite clearly reveal the uncomoromising
viewpoints of hoth :“eltorn and Bowers., Notwithstanding the
rigidity of their vosition, they felt that it was the correct
one and, because of this, no one would shake them from it.
In other words, so long s they were in charge of the CF&I,
the possibility of an understanding and/or agreement with any
trade unlion was quite remote.

after turning dcvwn wilson's veace offer, Rowers ori-
vately disclosed his reasons for objecting to every comoromise
that had been or would »e out fcrward.

This strike [he informed Rockefeller7has brought

to the front an issue which will secure the

attenticn and I helleve the cooperation of the

business men of the country regardless of voliticsl

affiliaticns--to force candidates for office to

1

L.M. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., Noven'er

28' 1913' CIR, 9' p. 8”2“.

2

J.F. Welrorn to John H. McClement, Cecemher 4, 1913,
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49

come out into the oven and declare thelr attitude
toward the rights of employees tc run an ‘onen
shop'.

The Wilson administration was using the strixe as a "test case",
which, if successful, would "warrant a national campalgn to
force the closing of open shops." Under no circumstances would
the overators stand 1dly by and let that hapoen but would fight
to the finish in order to retain the open shoo orinciple.1

While the Secretary of Labor was endesvoring to end the
strixe without achieving success, the President of the United
States was also getting nowhere. To hils sugsestion that the
_operators agree to arkitration by an unhiased hoard (along
lines similar to those orcvosed by Secretary Wilson), Bowers
had curtly answered that the CF&I "arbltrated matters only

2
with its own emvloyees."

Murphy, writing on behalf of Rockefeller, aporoved
Bowers' answer, but his letter revealed the first signs of not
merely acknowledging the Colorado revorts. Murphy oroposed a
plan whereby the strike would be investigated by a body of men
to be apoointed by the President. "Please understand", Murohy
carefully added, "that this is merely submitted for your con-
siderati&n, without any attempt whatever to influence your
action in the matter if for any reason you deem it wiser not

to follow it up". Replying on Decemher 6, Bowers rejected

1

: L.i. Bowers to John D. Rocxefeller, Jr., Novemher
28, 1613, CIR, 9, D. 8424,

2
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Starr J. Wurphy to L.i. Zowers, November 28, 1913,
CIRBR, 9, Dp. 8425,
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1
the idea. lurphy not only accepted the fait accomnli hut

also wrote words of encourarement: "As we have sald many
times before,'we leave this matter entirely in your hands,
having the utmost confidence in your Judgement and the way
you are handling the matter."2

During the winter, efforts to effect a settlement con-
tinued. All went to nezught due mainly to the resistance of the
ooerators who justified their position by pointing out to the
strikers' rejection of Ammons' plan of Novemher 17 One of
these attempts was made by Illinois Reoresentative Martin D.
Foster,.Chairman of the Congressional Sub-Committee on Mines
and Hininé. Honing to convince Rockefeller to have the strike
arbitrated, Foster wrote to him but, receiving no answer, went
to New York. Rocxefeller refused to intervene since, as he
exvlained to Foster, the matter was being handled in Colorado.,
When Foster turned to the executive officers, they also re ject-
ed arbitration on the grounds that the niners had refused the
November terms ang consequently, the latter were to blame for
all the subsequent disorder.

In the meantime, the National Guard had made its ap-
pearanceAin the strike district. At the *erinnineg, 1t hagd the
Ostensible welcome of the miners. But it was not long before

relations between strikers and trooos took a turn for the

1
: L.ii. Bowers to Starr J. Hurphy, December 6, 1913,
CIR’ 9' pc 8“’260
2
. Starr J. Hurphy to L.i. Bowers, December 9, 1913,
CIR' 9, p- 8’4‘26.
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worse. Une of the initisl causes of friction was the creation
on November 20 of 2 militesry commission to conduct hearings on
strike cases. According to Chase, he had selected only men of
"i rreproachable integrity" to this judicinl body; however, in
civilian 1life these individuals were bhankers, professionels,
businessmen, and manufacturers. If the Adjutant General was
convinced of the impertiality of this body, the miners who came
before it were not. Though the Commission did wield consid-
erable power, it did not replace the civil courts. Instead,
as an advisory board, it could only make recommendations per-
taining to orisoners. During the strike, the Commission in-

vestigated 172 cases, most of which dealt with charges of mur-
der, assault, and rioting.1

Ammons' decision to reverse his command on November
28 added more fuel to the already tense situation. With the
troops escorting miners willing to work, the process of im-
porting strikehreakers was increased. This move definitely
severed relations between strikers and soldiers. Even Welborn

noted the change:

As soon as the men from the outside of the State

commenced to arrive and the militia prevented the

interference on the part of the strikers with

those men going to work the feeling by the strikers

toward the militia immediately changed.2

The new policy brought jubilation in the overators'
camp. From the outset, they had m~aintained that the strike
could have been easily guashed if strixehreakers were allowed

entrance from other states. Following the Governor's sur-

1

Chase Report, p». L2-45,

2

Testimony of J.F. Welborn, CIR, 7, D. 6489,
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render on this ooint, towers exolsined to Hockefeller the
operators' tactics: "We used every vossible weavon to drife
him into action, but he was glove in hand with the labhor
leaders and is today, but the big men of aff=zirs have helped
the ooerators in vhio»ine the agitators, including the
Governor." Bowers was confident that within a week the
compatiy would return to normal ooerations.1

While the companies were manifestly hapoy with the
change in.policy, the union evidenced frustration snd resent-
ment. However, desvite the grim ouﬁlook, the ULWA, now faced
by the combined oownosition of 3tate and overators, remained
‘confideht'of ultimate victory. Even as iate as Christmas,

the prospects of a favorable settlement, noted one labor

Journalist, seemed "more encouraging than at any Z;theq:7time
2
during the strike."

Throughout the course of winter the ennity bhetween
miners and militia augmented sharvly. As if it wasn't enough
to ald the overators in running the mines with strikerreakers,
the troops also originated incidents which antagonized the
miners even more. U(ne such episode was the incarceration sna
deportation of iary Harris Jones, hetter xnown as "“ilother"
Jones, the dean of UilWA organizers and at the time more than
eighty years old.3 This latest outrage led the Colorado union

conmittee to advise the striters to amm thenselves in order

1
L.i. Bowers to Jonn D. Hockefeller, Jr., Decemrer 22,
i913, CIR, 9, p. 8427,
‘ 2

Adoloh Germer, "Colnrazde stes", UlwJ 24 (Cecember
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53

to resist any attenont =t deocrtation. In the same comnmunique,
the comnittee askted for a federal inquiry of the strike r—.rea.1
Two weeks after the comnittee had made lts request,

Congress agreed to conduct sn investigation. Under the suner-
vision of Hartin D. Foster, the investigation disclosed many
facts which certainly harmed the comnanies hefore the public.
Among others, Foster and his team had discovered that the
overators had hrought arms and ammunition iato the fields,

citizens had been arrested and tried contrary to the laws and

Constitution of the United States, and CF&I officials had

exerclsed political control in Las Animas and Huerfano counties.

The climax of the investigation came with the appearance of
Rockefeller. When questioned by the Chairmaﬁ; Rockefeller
clearly stated his loyalty to the officers of the company and

his unylelding adherence to the open shops

We believe the issue is not a local one in
Colorado. It is a nationzal issue whether workers
shall be allowed to work under such conditions

as they may choose. As part owners of the
prooerty our interest in the lahoring men in

this country is so immense, so deep, so orofound
that we stand ready to lose every cent we put in
that company rather than see the men we have
enployed thrown out of work and have imposed

uson them conditions which are not of thelr seek-
ing and which neither they nor we can see in our

interest. .. We expect to stand by the officers
at any cost.

February and March passed without any major incidents

in the strike district. This comparative gquiet persuaded

1
New York Times, 6 January, 1914, sec. 1, p. 10.
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New Yorx Times, 10 February, 1914, sec. 1, p. 3.
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Ammons to recall the militia though a small detachment of 35
mén was left near Ludlow. Another force, cavalry Trooo A,
supolemented the detachment. Bowers Informed Rockefeller that
Troop A, formed the week preceding April 20, co1sisted of 100
volunteers who were under the commend of the county's sherif‘f‘.1
He failled to add, however, that these volunteers were econo-
mically dependent on and subservient to the will of the ope=-
rators.2 On April 20, Troop A would pblay a leading role in

the burning of the strikers! tents at Ludlow.

1

L.M. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr.e, April-fB.
1914, CIR, 9, p. 8429, N
: 2

Testimony of Lieut. Col. Edward J. Boughton,
CIR, 7, p. 6731,
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CHAPTER 4 - THE STRIKEs FROM LUDLOW TC ITS DEFEAT

The Ludlow tent colony, the largest of the union camvs,
had a population of close to 1,000.' Estahlished on the day
the strike was called, the colony was under the command of the
Greek miner Louls Tikas, regarded by one observer as "the
greatest single agent for peace during the strike."1 For a
Tew weeks after its formation, the colony had keot friendly
relations with the soldiers.2 This state of affairs had changed
following November 30 when the lmoortation of strikebreakers
was legally sanctioned. From that date until the outbfeak at
Ludlow, conditions had so deteriorated that by April 20, stated
an investigating board of militia officers, a fierce bhattle of

3

some kind was practically certain.

On the morning of April 20, Troon A, together with the
regular militié under the command of Lieutenant Xarl E. Linder-
felt, too% position on a hill above Ludlow. While occupying
the hill, the militia mounted a machine gun and detonated two
bombs "as a signal to 1nhah1ténts of the coél-mining towns up
the canyohs that the attack had begun." The strikers, fearing

an assault on the colony, seized their rifles and determined

1
Testimony of Edward P. Costigan, CIR, 9, p. 8121,
2

3Testimony of Philip S. Van Cise, CIR, 7, p. 6806.

Ludlow: Being the Renort of the Sveclal Roard of

Officers Avpointed by the Governor of Colorado, cited in
McGovern, p. 274, '
i
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to make a2 stand. In the ensulng battle, no one agreed as to
who.fired the first shot, »ut soon machine gun fire came down
on the colony. riany wonen and children escaned from the tents
and sought shelter i1 the hilis. However, some, failing to
flee, hid in pits underneath the tents to vrotect themselves
from the bullets. The militia tnen launched a frontal attack
on the colony. Pouring coal oill cn the tents and setting fire
to them, the soldiers swept everything on their way. Those
wonen and cnildren who had hidden in the pits found themselves
trapped. In cne vit, eleven children and two women either
suffocated or hurned to death. At the end of the twelve-hour
battle, seventeen vpersons, including a militiamsn, hsd died,
Moreover, Tikas, who had been taken vrisoner, was allegedly
murdered by Linderfelt.1

After Ludlow, union officials in Trinidad issued a
"Call to Kebellion" summoning all miners in Colorsdo to take
uo arms. "Urganize the men in your communities in comvasnies
of volunteers", read the communication, "to vrotect the vorkers
of Colorado against the murder and cremation of men, women,
and children." Gather all arms and ammunition available,
exhorted tﬁe union leaders, and be ready for hattle., "The
State 1s furnishing us no orotection and we must nrotect our~
selves, our wives, @2nd children from these murdersus assassins."2

The response to the unlion's call was electric.

1

Philio 3. Van Cise, "The Colorado 3trike Situation®,
May 30, 19iL4, CIR, 8, b. 7328.
2

Testimony of Edward L. Loyle, CIR, 7, b. 6%83,
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Througnout the state, the workers now wages oven war. First
they took vossession of Ludlow and Trinidad; then they attacked
companies' proverty. At the Empire mine, they killed three
armed guards and left the wuine in shambles. The Walsen and
flckally mines were dynanmited. At Forbes, nine strikebreakers
and policemen were killed. CKF&I prooerties at Delagua, Black
Hills, Aguilar, and Hastings were burned and pillaged.1 The
miners continued to carry arms and create hevoc until Aoril 29
when federal troops arrived on the scene.

In the meantime, while tbe nation's newspapers were
making dally revorts on the Colorado situation, Rockefeller
was recelving the usual one-sided information from his subor-
dinates. Concerning the Ludlow battle, RBowers wrote hims
“"following withdrawal of troops by order of governor an un-

provoxed attack upon small force of militia by 200 strikers."z

| For the next few days telegrams between Colorado and New York
were a dalily occurrence. In these, Rockefeller inquired in
consternation if any company orooverty or emvloyees were involved
in the skirmishes with the strikers. In every instance, Bowers
reassured him that the CF&I was in no way connected with the
violence.

Rockefeller, because of hls assumption that the reports
he received were sufficlently soecific and correct to justify

1

Testimony of Edward L. Doyle, CIR, 8, vo. 7000-7.
2

L.il. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., April 21,
1914, CIR, 9, p. 8430.
3

John D. Rocwefeller, Jr., to L.il. Bowers, fioril 21,
23, 260 27, 29, 19143
. L.®. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., April 23,
25’ 26’ 27. 28’ 29, 191“’, CIR, 9’ ppa 8}4’32"‘4.
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nis basic conclusions upon them, found himself in a vulnerable
vosition within a weeik following the battle. Aroused by vide-
spread accusations abou® his role in the Colorado events, he
issued a statement as an apologia for his non-intervention.
Relying entirely on Bowers' letter to Murnhy, dated Sentemher
19, 1913, he discussed five of the strikers' demands and can-
didly declared that the comoany had met these demands in advance
1

of the strike. Immediately upon the publication of the state~
ment, Rockefeller was informed that the strike leaders had given
a different version of the story. To this Rockefeller ouhlicly
replied:

It is a question which source of information one

ijs to rely upon. I must rely upon that which I

know. That is the only way we can get on in 1life,

by trusting those whom one has reason to trust.

We are frequently decelved, and when we are deceived

we change as qulckly as we_can. I do not think we

are decelved 1in this case.

After his public statement, Rockefeller discovered that
1t was not to his advantage to rely on these reports. On May
2, Murohy wrote Bowers a 1etter enclosing a clipoing entitled

“Mr. Rockefeller's Concessions" which had apveared in the

New York Evening Post the day before. The newspavers, hegan

the lettef, had published coples of the Colorado statutes which
jntended to show that the granting of the eight-hour day, the
right to checkweighmen, and freedom to trade at company stores
were all "pursuant to law and not in any sense a concesslion

made by the company." Murphy asked for a statement of fact on

1

John A. Fitch, "What Rockefeller Knew and What He
Did", Sugvex, 21 August, 1915, p. 465.

New York Times, 29 April, 1914, sec. 1, p. 10.
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1
on these voints. Receivine no answer by iay 7, Murohy sent
ancther letter. Referring once more to the a2dverse criticisnm
incurred by Rocxefeller, MHurohy this time asked Rowers to make

2
the facts known as quickly as vossibhle.

Cn May 6, the day before Murohy had written his second

letter, Bowers privately answered the liew York Evening Post's

account by calling it "misleading in some resvects olus half
the truth in others." He then gave a lengthy reoort on the
various laws, but admitted that "our legal devartment has fur-
nished me some rather hurried notes." One of the laws discussed
by Bowers was the semi-monthly vpayment in wages. MNot only was
the law uncénstitutional but also, he maintained, no attempt
had ever been made to enforce it., "It was absolutely a dead
law and no individual or organization seemed to care enough
about it to demand comvliance in this state." He himself was
unaware that such a law exlsted, "and if Mr. Welbhorn or any of
our other officials knew 1t, it had sliooved theilr minds or I
should not have emphasized this point as I have done in this
controversy." To justify his ignorance, Bowers exvlained:

You avoreciate, Mr. Hurohy, that every one of us

here is under a tremendous pressure, and we have

an enormous amount of work to do; in fact, our

offices have been keot oven night 2nd dzy for the

most part during the last 2 weeks. o.. Local and

long-distance teleohones were in constant use, and

we had to have armed guards st our office 2nd at

the homes of some of us, so we have nct heen ahle,

if we wished, to dispoute the stetements of the
score or two of the reorecsentatives of yellow

1

_ Starr J. Hurphy to L.i. Eowers, Moy 2, 1914, CIR
9, po. B435-6.
2

Starr J. kurohy to L.il. Bowers, May 7, 1914, CIR
9, D. 8”’39'
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newsvapers and nuckraking neagazines who have
been writing uv the Colorado strike war.

Notwithstanding the Cheirman's exonlanation, Hurnshy had Jdiscever-
ed wnat he orobzb»ly would have wanted Bowers to deny, namely,
that ".r. BHocxefeller's Concessions™ were statute Ltaw,

Following the Ludlow and newspaocer incidents, there
was a notlceable change in the relationship between Rockefeller
and the local management. Though Rockefeller persisted in ac-
cepting the Colorado reports at their face value, the letters
of warm aporoval became scarce. Indeed, with one exception,2
there were no such letters. In addition, Rockefeller bhagan
taking a more active interest in Colorado affairs. One way
that Rockefeller manifested his new interest was hy sending
letters suggesting to the Coloradoe officials what course of
action they might wish to follow, _

Throughout the first months of the strike, that is,
until the Ludlow. battle, the letters from Colorsdo had been
in the nature of reports and the letters from New York little
more than acknowledgements of these. During thaet vericd only
one suggestion had come from New York. (On Decemher i, Murvhy
had proposed a plan for having the strike investigated; Rowers
had rejected it). After the April events, sugrestions became
more frequent. One of these was in reference to a oian drawn
uo by Governor Ammons in November. At that time the Governor

had suggested as a hasis for settlement certain concessions,

1

L.il. Bowers to starr J. Murghy, lay 6, 1914, CIR,
9 ? pp' 82’37"80

John D. Hockefeller, Jr., to J.F. Welborn, July 21,
1914, CIR, 7, o. 6684,
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except union recognitiocn, on the nart of the ecnerstors.
Though the strikers had rejected the pnlan, Rockefeller, on
hay 3, urged accestance of it. 4t the -same time, he agked
Bovers and Welborn "to outliine a method by which the parties
can now get together for the reconsideration of the nmatter
from that ooint."™ "Such action®, added Rockefeller, "would
denonstrate what has always been the fzct, namely, that the
operators are earnestly desirous of doing all in their power
to restore harmony."1 If the young tycoon was interested in
restoring "harmony"™, the overators certalnly vwere not. Since
the 3ecretary of Labor was present at the conference, answered
Bowers the pekt day, it was up to him "to force the union to
reconsider Governor Ammons' oroposition."2 Bowers was nlainly
affirming that the union was responsible for the orolongation
of the strike, and, if there was to be any settlement of the
dlspute, the initiative would have to come from its rankse.
Another suggestion came in resnonse to s veace orovosal
pbut forward by President Wilson. The President's nlan was the
creation of a comnmission comvosed of Hywell Davies, a Kentucky
coal.ooerator, and W. R. Fairley, a former UNWA officizl from
Alabama. With the memory of the Ludlcew tragedy still fresh in
people's minds, the Secretary of Labor, at the hehest of the
President, had apoointed on April 29 these two men to g0 to

Colorado and attemot mediation, Svending several weeks in the

1

John D. Rockefeller, Jr., to I.H. Bowers, and J.F.
Welborn, May 3, i91il, CIR, 9, p. 8436,
2

L.#. Bowers to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., May 4, 1014,
CIR, 9, p. 8436,

T 3

Berman, p. $6,
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state, the comnission, in svite cof the ooverators' manifest
antivathy, completed its investigation by the end of the summer,
Its report then served as the hasis for the President's prooosal.1

The vlan, made oublic on 3entember 5, called for a
three-year truce in the strike region, Its main features were:
(1) enforcement of the Colorado labor laws; (2) stri%ing miners
not found gulilty of law violations to be reemvloyed; (3) no

intimidation of miners, whether unionized or not; (4) vosting

of regulstions and wages 2nd the creation of a Grievance Com-
2
mittee at each mine.

New York, realizing that the plan could not he out-
rightly rejected, offered its services to Denver in drafting
a reoly to the President.3 Though the executive officers did not
pay attention to the offer,uﬁurphy went zhead with the draft and
then sent it with the warning that fhey either accept Wilson's
plan or make another orovosal since "a mere refusal to do anything
would be disastrous." However, he begged them not to misunder-
stand his strong languasge or his motives for the draft was written
"with the understanding that you will mefely consider our ovinions
for what they are worth and will decide the cquestions in the

light of your further knowledge of the situation.”

1

West Reoort, »o. 94-5,

2

New York Times, 8 Seotember, 1914, sec. 1, 0. 7.
3

starr J. Murohy to J.F. Welhorn, Seotember 8, 19il,
CIlR, 7, g. 6688.

J.F. Welborn to Starr J. Murphy, Septembher 12, 1914,
CIR' 7' p. 6689‘

starr J. lurohy to J.F. Welborn, 3eotember 16, 1914,
CIR, 7, p. 6692,
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Welborn's answer of septesber 18 fully reflected vhat
management thought of the .iew York oolnions~-acceot those with
which they agreed and, reasoning that they had "a further kncw-
ledge of the situation", lay aside those which did not meet
their aooroval. Welborn acknowledged Murohy's draft, used some
of the suggestions, but rejected the most vital section, namely,
that which called for the comvany to create & mechesnism for
enabling the different elements st the CF&I to oresent their
views and récommendstions.1

In every instance, the New York orovosals went further
than the overators were willing to goe Whereas they were put
forward as a means to end the strike and at the same time to
apoease pullic ooinion, the operators! indicated a willingness
to do neither.2 In light of Rockefeller's putlic rehuke on
April 28, it is surorising to note that these sugeestions were
always accomvanied with the rider that they could be zccevted
or rejecteds That the opnerators chose to refuse them leads
to only one conclusion: Rockefeller's oublic statement, "lahor
polic;es are initiated and determined by the off‘icers“,3 was
absolutely true.

And yet, though seemingly renouncing his resoonsibility,
Rockefeller did go along with the actions of his officers, gave

them his suoport, and even initiated a ouhlicity camoaign to

1
J.F. Welborn to Starr. J. Murohy, Seotember 18, 1914,
CIR, 7y p. 6691, '
2
John A. Fitch, "What Rockefeller Knew and What He
Did", Survey, 21 August, 1915, o. Y
3

Testimony of John D. Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 8, p. 7764,



6l

put the operators' viewnsoln®: before the punhlice. The camnaign,
explained Rockefeller before the Commission, was introduced
because of the unfavorable puhlicity he and his father had con-
stantly received from the press. "We felf 1t our duty as indi-
viduals and stockholders and directors in the company to do
what we could to get the facts before the puhlic", he said.1
For this purpose, one month after he had realized that it was
not safe to hank too heavily on Coloradp reports, he acquired
the services of an experienced press agent, Ivy L. Lee.2

Lee, aided by a committee of the three largest ope-
rators, set the campalign on foot about June 1, In the last
months of the strike, they published bulletins labeled "Facts
Concerning the Struggle in Colorado." The mailing list for
these bulletins comprised congressmen, leglslators, governors,
edltors, college presidents, and leaders in farm, labor, and
commercial organizations. Though Lee headed the camvalgn, he
relinquished his responsibility for the material published.
However, he did report to Rockefeller and asked his aporoval
for each bulletin; moreover, he received %1000 monthly for the
period he worked on them.u

Most of the bulletins were intended to discredit the
‘strikers in the puhlic mind., One of these contalned the lie
that Vice-President Hayes recéived an annual salary of $32000.

1

Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 8, p. 7772.
2

Testimony of Ivy L. Lee, CIR, 8, p. 7899.
3

uTestimony of Rockefeller, Jr.; CIR, 8, p. 7773

Testimony of Ivy L. Lee, CIR, 9, pp. 8715-6.
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This charge had already heen circulated »y the overators in
the Colorado newspavers. That they knew it to *e false was

evidenced by a telegram sent by Welborn to Lee on Seotember 30.

Welborn wired:

It has been sugeested, and I .think very wisely,
that on account of iacorrectness of facts with
resoect to ovayments to officers of organization
revorted in 3ulletin No. 4, that with the reissue
of series i, we inclose slip resding 'Cn vage 67
it is stated that certain figures were taken from
a reoort of secretary-treasurer U.il.W. of A.,
this 1s a2 misteke,' It is helieved that officers
are in doubt as to what information we have con-
cerning their finencial interest in the strike,
and with this slip inserted they will not make
any further answer. HNumber i4 has brought out
some questions that can not te easily answered.

To thls telegram Lee revlied:s “"Pamohlet already orinted and

forwarded. I suggest that you have slios prin%ed in Denver

and enclose in mailing.” When it 1s remembered that Lee revort-

ed about each bulletin, Rockefeller must share the gullt of the

overators and Lee in giving the oublic wrone information.
Rockefeller's oredilection for the overators' cause

was further revealed by an incident involving himself, Lee,

and iajor Edward J. Boughton of the Colorado National Guard.

shortly after the Ludlow outbreak, Roushton came to New York

and had a conference with Lee. The ilajor exolained that he

had been sent by Ammons to give a factual account of the Colo-

rado situation to Eastners who, according to the Governor, had

been misinformed by the newsvaoers and magazines. Lee sugrested

1

J.F. Welborn to Ivy L. Lee, September 30, 1914,
CIB’ 9' p. 86”5.

2

Ivy L. Lee to J.F. Welborn, 3entember 30, .91L4,
IR, G, p. 8645,
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that 1t would be good »olicy if the Governor wrote a letter

to the President and other state governors. This letter would
represent the personal viewpoint of the Governor vis-a-vis the
strikxe. After Boughton asked him to prenare a draft of the
prooosed letter, Lee immedlately acceoted.

One of Lee's first action was to ask Rockefeller for
some material. It did not seem improper to Rockefeller that
Boughton, who wanted to give the facts to the public, should
first seek the advice of a publicity agent of one of the parties
to the conflict. Moreover, Rockefeller had no qualms in send-
ing Lee material hased on information from his officials.1

Rockefeller did not see the letter that was finally
drafted, and for a good reason. Boughton had never sent it
to the Governor and no use was ever made of it. The incident,
however, sheds more light on the objectivity of hoth Lee and
Rockefeller. Though Ammons did not use the letter, it was not
the fault of Lee who prepared it, nor of Rockefeller who fur-
nished material to be used in it, Rockefeiler's attitude towar
the state authorities was similar to his Colorado subordinates.,
Not only did he fall to protest when Welborn and Bowers reported
their efforts to pressure the Governor, but he accepted being
‘part of a plan "which would have put out as a disinterested
official statement, a document emanating, without the pubhlic's

knovledge, from the business interests directly involved in
2
the controversy."

1

Testimony of Ivy L. Lee, CIR, 9, ppn. 8715-20.
Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 9, pp. 8595-6.
2

Joha A. Fitch, "What Rockefeller Knew and What He
Did", survey, 21 August, 1915, v. 468,
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Un enother occasion, it was Roc'tefeller himself who
took the initlative. After reading an article entitled "Csvital
and Labor" by Professor j. J. Stevenson of New York University,
hoc&eféller forwarded 1t to Lee with the recommendation that
it be used for what he called the "union ecducsztion camnaien,”
Rockefeller referred to the article, which bitterly attacked
trade unionism, as "one of the soundest, clearest, most forcibhle
oronouncement" he had ever read.1 Hovever, his enthusiasm for
the article dinmed when he testified before the Commission.,
Indeed, he was forced to reoudiate some of the ovarts of the
article and to refuse to comment on most of the ideas involved.2

In the meantime, though the White House had received a
blunt refusal from the opverators, hove remained that the latter
would change their minds. By mid-October, this hooe had com-
pletely dwindled.3 Wilson took no immediate stevs. Finally,
on Hovember 29, the President, invoking one of the nrovisions
of the Fairley—bavies truce olan, aovointed a commission to
settle differences between miners and onerators. The next day,
he released a statement in which he threw full resoonsibility
for the continuation of the stri%ke upon the éomoanies. Wilson

added:

I think the country regretted their decision and
was disapoointed that they should have ta%en so
uncomoromising a vosition. I have waited and
hoped for a change in their attitude, but now fear
that there will be none. And yet I do not feel
that I am at liberty to do nothing in the oresence
of circumstaaces so serious snd distreasing.

[

John D. Rockefeller, Jr., to Ivy L. Lee, July 17,
914, CIg. 9, p. 8635.

Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 9, vn. 8635-43,

3

Berman, p. 96,

)



68

In the sane statenent, Wilson nade Xnown the nmembers of the
comnission. At its head was Seth Low, President of the National
Civic Federation and foraer mayor of New York; other members
lncluded Charles . Y111ls, a Pennsylvania mine overator, and
Patrick Gilday, a Uiwa officiel.1

The union, following the ovnerators! refusal of the
President's plan, found itself in distressing circunstances.
By Uctober, it was showing definite signs of flinching. Its
official ofgan editorialized: "We have left our case in the
hands of the President of the United'states, believing that
he would and could find weys to enforce his proposition. ...
We belie%e'?resident Wilson will find the way to end a con-
dition that has grown 1ntolerable."2 The newspaver was ad-
mitting that the union had no longer the strength or the re-
sources to continue the fight and was hooing that the govern-
ment would secure at least a conmoronise for it, Unfortunately
for the union, Wilsoa did not cone to the rescue, hut simoly
anpoointed another commission. This latest investigation was
the last straw. C(n Decemhrer 9, the Colorado strike, having
lasted aporoximately sixteen months, was called off. Two days
later welborn reovorted his Juhllance to Rockefeller: "The feel-
ing of satisfaction on the vart of all of us over the calling
off of the strike is by no means small,."

————————

1
New York Times, 30 November, i9il, sec. 1, o, 1,

Utkd 25 (October 22, 1914): p. 4,
3

: J.F. Welhorn to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., Decemher
11, 1914, CiR, G, p. 8ukl,
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CHAPTER 5 - THE INDUSTRIAL REPRESENTATION PLAN

The Colorado strike has not failed. ... ﬁtj has
glven wide vublicity to the wrongs and injustice
Which have been inflicted on the miners.

Benefits will come to them because they have
demonstrated their power, because employers will
no longer dare to continue all the former ahuses,
Since they have heen made to understand and feel
that financially it is too costly, and their

course stands condemned before the Judgement of
the peonle.l

We did not gain the demands we made at Trinidad,

but there is one certain thing, ... the condition

that obtained in Colorado previous to the strike

will never again obtain in that Tield; that is,

that the operators will have a little Eit more

regard fabout) how they treat the men.

Though the strike was defeated and the UMWA failed in
its bid to represent the Colorado miners, the strike was not
a total fallure. "Aside from its impact upon public ovinion
in general", wrote one student of the confliect, "perhaps the
most significanf result of the strike was its naturing in-
fluence upon the attitudes and conduct of those who controlled
the great corporations of the state," The strike had a ner-
ceptible impact upon Rockefeller who, though'unyielding and:
dogmatic during the first part of the strike, sought, after

the Ludlow massacre, a solution to the oroblem. Rockefeller

gave evidence of his néw attitude before the Commissions

1

Samuel Gomoers, "Colorado Mine Strikers' Commission",
American Federationist 22 (January 1915): p. 47,
2

Testimony of Edward L. Doyle, CIR, 8, p. 6997.
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As to the strike itself, its many distressing
features have given me the deepest concern. I
frankly confess that I felt there was something
fundamentally wrong in a condition of affairs
which rendered possihle the loss of human llives,
engendered hatred and hitterness, snd hrought
suffering and orivation upon hundreds of human
beings. Without seeking to an»nortion hlame, I
determined that in so far as lay within nmy vower
I would seek means of avolding the possibility
of simllar conflicts arising elsewhere, or in
the same industry in the future.

As Preslident of the Rockefeller Foundatlion, an organ-
lzatlon incorporated in May 1913 with wide powers to authorize
studies 1n many fields, Rockefeller found one solution 1nnal-
lowing the funds of the Foundation to he used in an enquiry
of the causes of industrial unrest. For this purpose, he ex-
tended aA invitation to Mackenzie Xing, a Canadian lahor exvert
and subsequently Prime Minister of Canada. Uvpon acceovting the
invitation, Xing vislited Rockefeller at his New York residence
on West 54th Street. During the meeting, & variety of tovoles
were dlscussed, but the Colorado situation received the most
attention. Both he and management would not yield to union
recognition, Rockefeller told King; however, he felt that the
miners should have some form of representation. He then asked
King to formulate a plan along these lines. King, explaining
his lack of full kxnowledge of Colorado conditions, temporarily
refused, but upon Rockefeller's inslstence, tentatively sug-
gested that company officials and miners' revresentatives could

2
come together in committees to handle grievances.

1

Testimony of Rockefeller, Jr., CIR, 8, p. 7766.
2

F.A. McGregor, The Fall and Rise of Mackenzie ¥ing,
1911-1919 (Toronto: Macmillan of Canada, 1962), pp. 92-6.
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Followine the conlerence, sing ¢icd not inmmediztely
decide whether or nct acceont to workt for the Foundation. It
was only after weighing the pros =nd cons that King resolved
to leave Canada and accent Rockefeller's offer. Hls avooint-
ment did not hecome effective until CGetober 1, dbut before that
date, King gave advice whenever it was sought. Thus, on August
1, Kockefeller once again asked him to devise a nlen which
would assure the emoloyees an oprortunity for collective bar-
gaining.1 King, in a letter to Bockefeller dated August 6,
suggested the creation of a hoard on which hoth emvloyer and
employee would be represented, and before which, at stated in-
tervals, questions affecting conditions of emvloyment could be
discussed and grievances examined. “what might be exvected of
a board of this kind," continued Xing, "would be that emvloyees,
before taking up any auestion with the officers of the company,
would try to adjust or settle it among themselves." If this
method failed, differences and difficulties would be presented
to the company's officers by the miners' representatives.2

Despite Rockefeller's aporoval, management rejected
ding's idea on the grounds that it would apvear to be a con-
cession to the union. "To form such a hoard now", stated
Bowers, "would discount every utterance we have made snd in-

sisted uvon, that there vere no differences whatever and the

strike was not forced because of any grievances or differences.”

1

John D. Rockefeller, Jr., to llackenzle King, August
1, 1914, CIR, 9, p. 8441,
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welborn concurred with Bowers. The adowtion of such a plean,
he told Kockefeller, would be "an admission on our part that
a Weagness, the existence of which we had oreviously denied,
was belng corrected." Moreover, the officers of the company
were formulating a plan which would go far in eliminating the
miners' discontent, but anything done in that direction should
be carried out only after the strike was over.1 Managzement's
decision to stave off introduction of the plan received
Rockefeller's consent. "I cannot but feel", he explained to
King, "that the officers of the company are right in the con-
clusion which they have reached. Time and manner is just as
imoortant as [}hé] plan 1tse1f."2

Although Rockefeller accepted his officiels! judgement,
he made, before the end of the strike, one more attemot to
change their minds. In early October, Murohy, writing on he-
half of Rockefeller, dronosed the formation of committees
representing both miners snd oolerators. These committees
would be "charged with the duty of enforcing the statutes of
the ;tate and also the regulations of the commnany lecoking to
the safety and comfort of the miners and the protection of the
company's oroverty." Welborn's reply indicated that such a
plan could be emoloyed to advantage. He was still opvosed to

the apoointment of a committee, "as that would come too near

one of the demands of the miners' organization", but he was

1

J.F. Welborn to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., August 20,
1914, CIR, 7, p. 6680,
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amenable to the idea of having the manager of each mine select
a miners' committee which would foster regularity in work,
observance of rules and laws, care to guard against accidents,

loyalty to the company's interests, and cleanliness in the
1 , .

homes.,

Only after the strike had been unquestionably defeated
did the CF&I put its olan, which had been drafted by Welborn,
into opergtion. Un December 17, David Griffiths was appointed
to hear grievances and act as intermediary between the convany
and its emoloyees.2 An inmmigrant frém Wales, Griffiths had,
in the 1880's, entered the coal mines of Colorado as a miner,
had filléd'the positions of fire boss, mine foreman, mine suver-
intendent, and State cosl-mine insovector from 1895 to 1899,
He was well qualified for the work he was undertaking "not only
because of his broad %nowledge of the coal-mining induétry,
but on account of the unequaled confidence reposed in him, not
by the coal miners alone, but by others engaged in the coal-
mining industry.®

Shortly after Griffiths! apoointment, the miners, on
January 5, were invited to elect renresentatives who would
hold a coﬁference with company officers two weeks later at
Denver. At tne meeting, an early form of the Industrial Reo~
resentation Plan was bhorn. The Plan was so pleasing to

Hockefeller that he could boast before the Commission:

1

J.F..Welborn to starr J. Murohy, Cctober 9, 1914,
CIR' 7| ppo 6693-40
' 2

Hew York Times, 18 Decenhrer, 1Gil, sec. i, o. 1.

-
-~

"Sketch of Mr. David Griffiths' Activities", CIR,
9' pp. 8)4"’4‘2-30
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Thus it will bte seen that the Comvany has already
taken stens to initlate a olen of renresentation
of its emoloyees. It is my hove and bellef that
from this ¥will develoo some vermanent machinery
wnich will .insure to the emnloyees of the Comoany,
through reoresentatives of thelr own selection,
oulck and easy access to the officers, with ref-
erence Lo any srievances, real or assuned, or
with reference to wages or other coanditions of

emoloyment.

Rockefeller's new attitude towards the miners won hinm
the congratulations of maay, but orobably those most appreciated
were from James Brewster, formerly a UsWA attorney who had
represented Colorado striting miners and had severely criticized
Rockefeller during the strike. ‘Three days after Rockefeller
had made his statement to the Commission, Brewster wrote hims
"I feel that I should be one of the first to congratulate you

upon your present attitude, which I understand to tre of will-
2
ingness to listen."

Hackenzie King did not share management and ownershio's
complacency. =Kins had pood reasons for helng unhavoy with vhat
had been done. His aoorenensions were first aroused by Grif-
fiths who to0ld him that Welborn still clung to some pater-
nalistic notions. As an example, Griffiths had nointed out
to the president's belief in the compeny's right to interfere
with the type of religious instruction to hre given at the camps.
These feérs were substantiated in early Febtruary Whén King and
Welborn held long conversations in New York. On each occasion,

Welborn clearly stated that the comvany should go slowly in

1
West Report, p. 185.

2

James Rrewster 5o John D. hLoc'tefeller, Jr., January
28, 1915, King Papers, 26, p. 23196.
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1
introducing new schemes, King, revortlng to Rockefeller his

conversations wita Welborn, indicated his dissatisfaction with
welborn's plan which he thought was just a mere hesinning and
would apmount to nothing unless 1t develoved into soaefhing real,
substantial, and of peraanent value. If wWel»ora did not undergo
a radical change, warned iKing, Rockefeller nnight once agaln be
subjected to a barrage of criticism, maybe even harsher than
what he had received following the April events. There was
only one way this criticlism could be avoided: New York and
Denver nust be in comvlete agreement as to the kind of plan
to be introduced at the mines.2

The oovortunity to convert Welborn to 2 more democratic
scheme of employee representation presented itself in March
when Xing first visited Colorado. Cstensibly, the primary
purpose of his visit was to ohtain first-hand information that
would later be used for a final draft of the plan. But Xing
was also interested in selling his ldeas to Welborn. While iﬁ
the state, Xing observed the industrial situation and had fre-
quent talks with the oresident., Soon, @& warm friendship devel-
oped between himself and Welborn. And, proiably more innortant,
at least for the future olans of the comvany, Welhorn seemed
more ready to accept directiog from King.B King was certainly
pleased when he recelved this letter from Welhorns

It is the ambition of the officers of the CF&I
to make the social conditions at its oronertles

S ———

1

scGregor, pp. 159=160.
2

HMackenzie Kins to Jona D. mZoekefeller, Jr., Fehruary
2, 1415, Kin: Pavers, 29, PO. 26088-G.

ricGregor, pn. 160-1.
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and the scieral relations hetween “he wortmen

and the comnany the oride orf everyone connected

with the couavany, if not the envy of other

industrial institutions, yet I recognize our

1ndustrial linitations in this serticular line

of wori and wanE the helo of everyonf who can

and is willing to render assistance.

This letter discloses a new welborn, a man who 1is now
seeking an assistance he hed continuously rejected during the
strike. The change can orobably he accounted for by the dif-
fewent conditions existing in 1615 with resvect to 1914, 1In
the latter year, Welborn was in the midst of a strike which
threatened hls position as president of the comonany. After he,
together with Bowers, had been glven carte blanche by New York,
the responsibility for successfully hahdling the sltuation was
much more his than New York's. Such resosonsiblility caused him
to clash with his superiors whenevgr they took a vposition con-
trary to his. 1In 1915, since he was no longer on a hot seat,
a detente with New York was now possible. In other words,
once the urgency of the situation had disavoeared, it was no
longer necessary to maintain a hard line towards ownershio.

After comoleting his stay in Colorado, Kinz gave Welhorn
hls imoressions. He found that emoloyees' reoresentatives
were apprebiated by the miners as well as the work done by
Griffiths. However, the elght-hour day was not heing respected
at several of the caups and especially at the steel vlent,.

His visit to the Pueblo Hospnital, where he conferred with Dr.

Corwin, and his conversations with nearly all of the doctors

at the various camps left him confident that the CF&I deserved

1

J.I'. Welborn to Mackenzie King, June 15, 1915,
King Papers, 29, p. 27185,
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the hizh reputation it had secured for its medical service.
In summary, Kine exoressed his great onleasure to have met a
high aversge grade of conpany officials who helieved in and
were loyal to the comnmoany. At the same time, he felt that
the severe criticism the CF&I had received during the strike
had had a favorablie effect on suverintendents who were now
"sensitive to, 2nd considerate of the rights of the emvloyees,
,8nd ... determined to eliminate and avold what might afford
Just ground for criticism."1

In september 1v1s, while the Industrial Representation
olan was being considered, Rockefeller, together with King,
Vvisited Colorado.2 Belatedly, he realized that it was good
business to %eep in close touch with his emnvloyees., He dressed
in nminers' clothes, went in the mines, and talked informally
with the workers end their families.3 The success of the visit--
he "met a 3tate the ooinion of which was much divided towards
him%, and "1eft.1t with but oge o»vinion, and that one of un-
divided praise and affection"--indicated that the charges of
absenteeism levied agalnst him before ansg during the strike
wWere definitely true. .

Béfore leaving Colorado Rockefeller called a Jjoint
conference of miners' reoresentatives and comovany officials
to be held at Pueblo on Getober 2, 1915, At this meeting,

—————

1
ifackenzie Xing to J.F. Welhorn, August 21, 1915,
King Papers, 27, pp. 24574-87,
2

liew Yorx Times, 22 Sentember, 1915, sec. 1, v. 10,
3

lcGregor, oo. 1783-9,

: Meckenzie King to Mrs. John D. Roczefeller, Jr.,
Cetober 6, 1915, Kiag Papers, 29, p. 26034,
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1
King's 2lan of industrial renresentation was inaugurated and
one weeX later 1t was subhmitted to a general vote of the minerse.
The total vote cast was 2,846, of which Z,hQU, or 84 per cent,

were in favor of the plan, and 442, or 16 per cent, were op-
2

posed.

Attached to the plan was a "Memorandum of Agreement"
outlining certain basic provisions designed to prevent dis-
putes. The agreement, effective October 1915, was to run until
January 1918. The eight-hour day, which was a matter of statute
law, was written into the contract as well as the semi-monthly
payment of wages. The company also promised to post scale
wages, and to malintain these wages for over two years unless
competitive districts granted an increase; to fix moderate
charges for house, rent, light, and water; and to erect bath
and club houses. In addition, employees were given the right
to hold meetings on company property, to purchase where they
pleased, and, though the right to hire and discharge was the
exclusive of the company, they could not he discharged without
first being cautioned or suspended. Another important stipu-

lation was no discrimination on account of union membership.

S —————

1

The plan here submitted to a vote covered only the
coal miners. A similar plan, containing the same basic princi-
ples but adapted to the needs of the steelworkers, was presented
to them in May 1916. They accepted the plan, 73 percent favor-
ing it. This plan was later extended to cover enovloyees at the
Sunrise mine in Wyoming and at the Colorado and Wyoming Rallway.
Cf. Ben M. Selekman, Employes' Revresentation in Steel Works
(New Yorgs Russel 3age Foundation, 192L4),

Ben M. Selexman and Mary Van Kleek, Emvloyes' Repre-

sentation in Coal lines (New York: Russel Sage Foundation,
1922“'), pl 2?.
3

"Memorandum of Agreement Hespecting Emvloyment, Living
and Working Conditions", cited in King Papers, 27, pp. 24598-600.
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When 1t is remembered that in earlier Years memhership meant
dismissal and union organizers were not even allowed %o enter
the camps, this provision was of great significance.

When flinally adopted, the Plan orovided that at each
mine two or more representatives would he elected for a one
year term. These representatives met an equal numbher of com-
Pany officials at an annual meeting. In addition, district
meetings would be held every four months in each of the five
districts, four representing the coal mines and one the steel
plant, Iﬁ every district there would also be four joint com-
mittees composed of an equal number of employees and company
officers to consider (1) safety and accident; (2) industrial
cooperation and conciliation; (3) sanitation, health, and
housing; (4) recreation and education.

The employees' representatives in each camp had the
right to take up with any comvany official all grievances which
were reported to them. If they could not obtain satisfactory
adjustment of the case, they might apoeal to the President's
Industrial Representative, David Griffiths, who was constantly
moving about the camps. If Griffiths failed to restore amicable
relations, the employee or his representative might apneal to
the higher officers right up to the president, or he might
refer the matter to the Joint committee on cooveration =2nd
conciliation., If this latter body could not provide satis-
faction, the employee might go to the last board of aponeal,

1
the Colorado Industrial Commission.

Underlying the Plan wss a definite nhilosoohy which

S ———e—

1
Selekman and Van Kleeck, pn. 60-9,
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iockefeller set forth in a nevspaper article of January 1916.
Every corporation, he stzted, is comvosed of four varties: the
stockholders, the directors, the officers, and the emnloyees.
The interests of these four are identical. Each aust do its
share for the Plan to succeed; "an effort on “he pvart of any
one to advance its own interest without regard to the rights
of the others, means, eventually, loss to all.® Though some
have referred to the Plan as "establishing a Revublic of Labor",
1t, continued the article, is not a "panacea" and yet it is a
step in the right direction. The Plaa orovides amvle machinery
to minimize abuses hut its ultimate success will largely he
determinéd'"by the spirit in which it is carried out.“l
From the outset, the UiWA was hostile to the Plan.
It, stated its official organ, was a noor substitute for the
privileges that could gnly be acquired through the collective
action of the workers. There was no vossibility, maintained
Vice-President Hayes, for the worker to be justly represented
when the Plan was hased solely on the good will ond vatronage
of the CF&I; under such a Plan, the uiners would heconme merely
the "wards" and not the "partners" of the men in charge of the
properties; John Lawson believed the Plan ¢id not contain
"the essentials of collective bargaining®, but rather attemnted

“"to substitute naternalism for dewocracy anc nhilanthrooy for

1
John D. Kockefeller, Jr., “Lahor snd Canital-
Partners", Atlantic iloataly 117 (January 1916): oo. 16-20.
2

"Paternalisn liot the Solution", ULWJ 25 (Getober 14,
1915)3 Pe 50
3

"Hevort of Vice-2resident Hayes", 25th Convention of
the UiWA, UnwdJ 25 (January 20, 19i6)s p. 42,
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1
Justice." ornuel Gomoers athtscked Rockefeller directly:s

50 Mr. Rockefeller has formed a union--a union of
his own emoloyees of the Colorado Fuel and Iron
Conrany, ~nd perhnos Imagines he hes solved the
oroblem of just relations hetween hinself =nd his
employees. Bub with all his wealth ~nd the hrains
he could buy #nd suhorn he has missed the mark,
Imagine =an orgrvization of niners formed by the
richest mran in the world, who emonloys its memkers.
Hhat influence can such » vpseudo union have to

Insist uoon the renedyine of a grievous wrong or
the attainment of a real right?

Gomoers had the answer: where men have no security in their
position they will obey the comoany's directions.2

The United Stétes Commission on Industrial Relations,
even hefore the Plan had been retified, condemned it in much
stronger terms. Georpe West found that i1t emhodied "none of
the princinsles of effectunl collective hargaining snd was a
hypocritical oretense of granting what is in reality withheld";
it wasn't conceived and implemented for the emoloyees, "but for
the puroose of amellorating or removing the unfavorahle critic-
ism of Mr. Rockefeller which had arisen throughout the country
following his rejection of President Wilson's plan of settle-
ment." And, added West: "The effectiveness of such a plan
lies wholly in its tendency to deceive the public 2nd 1lull
criticism, while pernitting the Company to meintain its ab-
solute power."3

The liberal press of the nation also denounced the

qun. The argument put forth was simvle: no union was a union

L —

1

John Lawson, cited in "Colorado's 'Republic of Labor'",
Literary Digest, 23 Cetoher, 1Y15, p. 890.
5 .

New Yorx Times, 5 Cctober, 1915, sec, 1

v Do 7e
West Report, po. 156-7, 186.
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in anything but aame anless 1t nad the power to hareain with
caoital. One Easteran weexly, for instance, declared:

There should bhe no self-deceotion ahout the 3chene.,
It does not estahlish reoresentation nor nrovide
for collective hargaining., The fact that the nen
have to choose their delegates from the emaloyees
of the coma2ny 1s a death “low to any gencine
Tepresentation. For it mesns that the miner who

Is uafortunate enough to *e elected has to reoresent
his constituents at the risxk of his job. Ang no
good inten*ions of Hr. Roctefeller's can alter *+he
fact that » miner in =n ohscure Colorado camp is =t
the mercy of foremen ang mine superintendents. To
asX him to fight the couse of his fellow-workers,
when that csuse will carry him into conflict with
the men who control his emoloyment, is to destroy
at 1ts roots the v0ssihility of revresentation.!

Though the Plan was much criticized, it did ensender
some favorable responses. Thus, President Wilson's Coal Strixe
Commission, which had visited Colorado in December 1915 and
had puhlished a report two months later, was very enthusiastic
about 1it, Terming the Plan a new venture in lahor relations,
the Commission felt positive that not only would it Drove a
success but would also influence other overators to follow
its example. The Plan, far from being a means to escape dealing
with a unlon, was a first step in ultimately permitting worrers
to determine their own living =2nd working conditions.2

If the Rockefeller Plan suffered by comoarison with
outside unions, it held its own in comnarison with other company-
initiated schemes. The Indusﬁrial Council Plan, in effect at
MeCormick and International Harvester, provided for s "Works
Couneil" in which employee-elected representatives hnd an equal

e ————

1

"The Rockefeller Plan in Colo&ado", New Republic
4 (Getober 9, 1615): p. 24y,
2

McGregor, pp.‘185-6.
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volce and vote with mansgement in considering matters of mutual
interest. It gusranteed to every emoloyee impartial arhitration
and the right to nut forward any suggestion, request, or com-
plaint #nd to have it quickly decided uvon. The Harvester Plan
differed somewhat from that of the CF&I in oroviding closer
management sunervision, and in allowing arbitration only with
company permlssion. Employee representatives could only meet
in the presence of management representatives Wwhereas in the
CF&I Plan, employee representatives were not supervised in local
meetings except at those meetings where representatives of all
the camps met with too management, In one respect, the Harvester
Plan was seemingly more democratic: in'the "Works Councils",
unit voting of the employee group and the envloyer groun was
in force; in the CF&I Plan, if one miner voted with management,
his vote could decide the impendiné issue.1

No doubt the Industrial Representation Plan established
& company union, but it was g big step forward when compared
to the totally autocratic labor conditions previously existing
at the company. The Plan provided a buffer between the fre-
quently despotic superintendents and the miners. Whereas,
before the Plan was introduced, communication between worker
band too management was next to impossible, the worker could,
now, breakX the wall separatiné himself and the executives,
However, having said this, it does not obscure the fact that

the Plan was basically devised as a company-controlled substi-

tute for outside unionisn,

1

Robert (zanne, 4 Century of Lahor-isanagement Relntlonsg
At iicCormick And International Harvester (iindison: The
University of wisconsin °Press, 1967), pp. 118-122.
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CH"PTER 6 - THE PLiN I'T PRACTICE

John A, Fitch, writer on the staff of the weekly
Jouraal survey, had bhegun his coverége of the Colorado's
industrial situation 1in 1912, During the next two Yyears, he
Wwrote many articles in which he develonegd one main theme: peace
could neve? come to Colorado until the rule of the onerators
was ended-L The CF&I's introduction of the Plan hag received
the following comment from him: "It is not democracy that he
Léockefelleij has estahlished in the industrial relations of
the mines; it is not a satisfactory form of ¢ollective bhar-
galning, though it may be a step in the direction of both.“2
After the Plan had been in ooeration for two years, Fitch per-
sonally visited the coél camps and was impressed with the new
conditions. "Phis isg the story of 2 changed order", he re-
ported; "the bitterness engendered by the Colorado strike of
1913-1914 and the events back of it is being slowly but surely
Wiped out and s better state of affairs, Industrial ang nolit-
lcal, is comlng into being," .Fitch credited the Plan for most
of the transformation.

While the strike was in progress, Welborn had repeat-

edly asserted his company's intention to keep closed camps,

1

John A, Fitch, "Law ang Order: The Issue in Colorado",
survey 33 (December 5, 1514): po, 2h1-258,
2

John A. Fitch, "The Rocxefeller Plan" Survey 135
(November 6, 1915); p.'147. '
3

John A. Fiteh, "Two Years of the Rockefeller Plan",
‘survey, 6 Uctober, 1917, p. 14.
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that 1s, czmos which tne public could not freely enter. On the
1Cth of le»ruary, :1%16, the CF:I's Poard of Directors issued

the following statements "Anyone conductine hiTself in an order-
1y manner mz2y visit the cemds of the Company;"i Fitch versonslly
attested to the change: he had gone freely ahout the canvs,
talked with whomever he pleased and no one had 1nterfered.2

During the strike, the leading coal overators would
not meet under any circumstances with union representatives.

By 1617, the Victor-smerican Fuel Company h=d signed a three-
year agreement with the UnWA. Thne CF&I had not gone so far
but had adumitted union leaders into its camos and had also
held conferences with them.

Fitch, lixke Ben ii, Selexman and Mary Van rRleeck, in-
vestigators for the Russel 3age Foundatlon, found that the
commaittees estahlished by the Plan had corrected some former
abuses. Compulsory ouying in comoany stores was a thing of
the oast; com»ylsints egainst orices were dealt with oromotly
and equitably; life in the csmos was haonler and more heal*hful
and opportunities for school were greatly imoroved. OCnly one
thing clouded these changes for the hetter: they had heen hrought
about through the initiative of management while emoloyees were
given no resvonsivility for decisions.3

In addition fo these industrizl chenges, Fitch found
the political outlook different. The comnany's influence in

1

Ystatement of Board of Directors", XKing Papers, 35,
p. 30897.
| 2F1tch, "Tywo Years of the Reocrefeller Plen", p.‘lb.

Fitch, p. 20.
Selekman and Van Xleeck, n. XX.
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county and state affairs no longer existed. 3Sheriff Jefferson
Farr, who had served the interests of the coal comvanies for
over a decade, had heen defeated. Judge Granhy Hillyer, who
had been avpjointed by Governor Carlson to try the cases growing
out of the strike and who had senterced Johﬁ Lawson to 1life
imprisonment, was removed fronm his position, Furthermore, the

indictments against Lawson and other striking miners had bheen
1

disalssed.

Though Fitch was prohbably correct to assert that the
conpany no longer exercised political control over local af-
fairs, others found that the company now interfered in national

affairs. Indeed, the najority ooinion in the ctate helieved

.

that the CF4&I, together with the Colorado Repu»hlican leaders,
had congpired to carry the 1916 elections for the Hepublican

farty. After the election results hecane %nown, flurohy informed

Rockefeller:

There were seven election orecincets which were
coextensive with seven coal camons and no one was
allowed to enter these camps nrevious to election
day for many months without stating his business
and obtaining nernission fron the suverintendent.
eoe HMajority oninion in legal effect holds that
under foregoing coaditions there could not ve a
free and fair election and threw out entire vote
of these seven vrecincts.,

Fitch discovered that the miners did not make use of
the grievance-ad justing machinery orovided »y the Plan. Com-

plaints were few, none was of a serious nature, and they were

3
gulckly dealt with. Fitch's findings were corrcrorated hy
1
Fitch, "Iwo Years of the Hocefeller Plan®, pb. 15,
2

otarr J. hurshy to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., Xing
racers, 33, 13 July, 1$16, o, 29413,
3

Fitch, p. 17,
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welborn and by the Russel sage Foundation investirators. The
latter found grievances, ranging from comoiaints about under-
ground working conditions to attemots hy sunerintendents to
discrizinate against unionizeg niners, in every camp excent
two. 1lixe Fitch, they found that these grievences were rarely
reoorted to comodany officials. The revresentatives' reluctance
to exoress their real feelings, concluded 3Sele%xman and Van
Kleeck, could only be explained hy their fear of losing their
jobs or of'getting a bhad working place.2

Among cowoany officials, the Plan received favorahle
comaents. “Ihere is no doubt of the success uv to this time",
wrote Neitzel, "and the best and surest vroof is the fact that
We are turaing uen away from our mines while all other overators
in the state are comvlaining about shortage."3 Welborn agreed:
the good conditions existing at the CF&& were entirely the
result of the introduction of the Plan. Clarence J, Hicks,
in charge of industrial relations at the comvany, crediteg
Welborn for the Plan's early success. Welhorn's gennuine in-
terest in all that pertained to the living and working con-
ditions in the mines and camps had so filtered throusrh to the
suvordinate officizls that the Plan, as g result, had heen

strictly adnered %o and its terms scrudulously observed.

1
J.F. Welborn to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., January 14,
1916, King ravcers, 35, p. 30845,
2 ,
seletman and Van Kleeck, pPo. 177-8, 1G4,
3

E.H. Weitzel to John D. Eockefeller, Jr., Decembher 22,
1916, Kiﬁn rapers, 35, o. 30269.

J.F. Welborn to linckenzie Xing, arch 31, 1917,
ding Pajsers, 38, p. 33369,
5

Clarence J. Hicks to Mackenzie King, January 25,
1516, Kine Pasers, 34, o, 28553,
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Even Rockefeller had high oralses for the way the Plan
was working out. In a vuhlic address delivered after the war,
he stated his hellef that the Plan hed oroven a boon to what
he teried the four Jsarties in industry. He vlaced larticular
emphasls on six effects of the Plang u1lnterruoted overation
of the plants and continuous employment of the workers; improved
worxing and living conditions; the establlshment of frequent
and close contact between employees and emvloyers; the elimi-
nation of grievances; the develonment of rood will; and the
cfeation of a comnunity spirit. lloreover, under its operation,
the particisants in industry were gradually becoming convinced
of the soundness of the Proposition that they were fundamentally
friends and not enemies and that their interests were one and
the same. Prosperity and happiness were resultimr.1

Those individuals or groups who were neither connected
Wwith the company or with labor spoxe favorably of the Plan.
Following the strike, Trinidad, a town at the heart of CF&I
properties, had experienced high unemployment. One year after
the Plan had been in force, the Trinidad Chamber of Commerce
was happy to report that, thanks to the Plan, all menzin the

town and 1its surrounding districts were back at work. The

Irinidad Picketwire aptly summarized the town's feelings toward

the Plan and the company for having introduced it:

The business of making gardens, the entertainment
offered by the YHMCA, the clu™ houses and the

1

John D. Rockefeller, Jre, "Rebresentation in Industry®,
Annals of the American scadeny of Politicel and 30cial Secience
81 (January 1%1G): p. 177,
2

Trinidad Chanber of Commerce to HMac%enzie King, 22
Harch, 1916, {ing Papers, 35, p. 24588,
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encouragement to develop in every way is golng to

bring its returns to the men who are behind the

Plane «ee Tne CF&I is following the right Plan.
President Wilson's Coal 3trike Commission revorted that the
coupany was overating the rPlan “with entire good faith."2 The
Industrial Commission of Colorado, a hody which studied dis-
putes and made recommendsations within a thirty-day veriod
before a strike or a lockout could be declered, found very
few grievances and also indicated the absence of any discri-
mination against union rnembers.3

The UMWA was, as could be expected, dissatisfied with
the workings of the Plan. OUne &nionist claimed that the company
was not abiding by the nondiscrimination clause of the Plan,
Wages were also unsatisfactory but to a union;s request to have
then adjusted, the company bluntly refused. Another matter that
caused friction‘concerned the raising of money for the Red Cross.
The company had organized a campalgn whereby each miner would
donate one day's pay; the comnany in turn wduld double the suﬁ
ralsed. The response by the men was more than exvected--almost
100 per cent donated money. Problems arose when a union local
at one of the camos decided to-do hetter. Uninn members there

voted to give 1 ner cent of their wages to the Red Cross for

the duration of the war. They then asked the comoany to check

1
pe 30950,
72

Irinidad Picketwire, Hay 8, 1516, King Pavers, 35,

Hew York Times, 19 Harch, 1916, sec. 1, p. 19,

"Evidence of Unrest in Colorado", survey 39 (November
10, 19173: p. 143,

Edward L. Doyle, “iiners Urgranize Their Own Union®,
american Federstionist 23 (liovember 1$16); D. 1049,
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off the amount, turn the noney over to the union's secretary
who would send it to the Ked Cross. The comoany offered two
reasons for refusing the request: it was not signed hy all of

the men and it was illegal for a miner to asslgn his »ay for
1
nore than one month at a time.

These accumnlated grievances could have s»urred the
union to another confrontation with nmanagement but, unfortu-
nately for the former, it was in no position to call a strike.
Since 1914, the UMWA had heen plagued by internal probhlenms.
Though, at the outset, Lawson had agreed with Hayes about the
conduct of the strike, he soon found himself at odds with the
Vice-President and other members of the international. The
divergence continued and got worse after the strike. Lawson
accused Indianapolis for having withdrawn its supnot too early,
that is, before the striking miners had been able to get their
0ld jobs back or get work elsewhere.2 In 1916 an election for
district officers was held in District 15, Lawson, as a can-
didate for the presidency, received an overwhelming majority.
However, after the election, the international, claimineg that
the district was no longer self-sufficient, decided to susoend

its autonomy. In line with this new poliecy, it assumed direction
‘of Colorado affairs, avvointed James Moran president instead

of Lawson and Warren Pipnin as secretary-treasurer; at the same

time, it sent Hayes to take charge of a nevw organizationsl

drive.

1 .
Fitch, "Iwo Years of the Rockefeller Plan", p. 18.
2

Seleikman and Van Xleeck, p. 278.

UMWJ 27 (February 15, 1917): p. 11.
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This factionalism Lreonrted 3elekmwan and Van Xleeckd
greatly weakened the union, and the defeat and with-
drawal of Lawson denrived the miners of an abhle
leader. Moreover, the charges of unfair tactlics in
elections made many members of the union lose con-
fidence in its administration.?

Notwithstanding its ostensihle weakness, the union
issued a call for a strike on Augusﬁ 1, 1917, but added the
rider that if the company showed a disoosition to remedy the
situation, the strike would not occur. The strike threat,
maintained the union, came as a direct result of the fallure
on the comdany's vart to attend a peace conference originated
by Moran. According to its organizer, this conference would
involve representatives of miners and operators and would discuss
ways and means peace could be maintained hetween employers and
envloyees while the country was engaged in the war. Welborn

exoressed sympathy with the objects of the meeting, but re jected

the invitation since the Plan was accomplishing the same pur-
2

poses.

Despité the comoany's refusal, the strike did not occur
on the established date. Two incidents deterred the union from
taking such a course: the international had advised against a
strike and union officials had been glven the cplortunity to
hold a conference with company representatives. In fact, on
July il4, Moran and John MclLennan, President of the State Fede-
rat;on of Labor, met with Welborn and his assistant Clarence

Hicks. In the past management had categorically refused to mueet

1

Selekman and Van Kleeck, p. 280.
2

Fitch, "Two Years of the Rockefeller Plan™, p. 18.
UMWJ 28 (August 2, 1917): o. 4.
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union officlals. This new attitude narked a drastic reversal
of former volicy. Welborn gave two reasons for the shifts (1)
management, aware when a strike 1s in orogress that the union
usually interprets a conference as glvins the hene of a con-
tract, refused hecause it did not wish to give such hove; (2)
the Plan, by providing a method of conference between manage-
ment and emoloyees, nad allowed him to gather enough information

to refute any charges that either lMoran or lclennan might have
2

put forth.

During the conference, Koran claimed to bhe strongly
desirous of averting a strike on the set date, but made it
clear that the miners themselves, of whom, accordinz to his
own estimates, S0 ver cent were memhers of his organization,
wented union recognition and were willing to ohtaln it even if
it meant a strike. welborn denied the vercentage of unionized
miners; however, he did acknowledge that many miners had ta%en
out their membershio cards. As the convention proceeded,
Moran directly asked the president whether or not he would
recognize the union, a request which Welborn flatly turned
down. PEefore the meeting was adjourned, Welborn was left with
the imoreésion that the conference had had the effect of avert-
ing a strike. Two days later, his imoression materialized;

the CF&I received official notice whereby the strie was called

1

In January 1915, Rockefeller had had = series of
interviews with kdward L. Doyle, Jonha R. Lawson, and Frank J.
Hayes. Cf. wmcGregor, p. 135.

2

Selekman and Van Kleeck, po. 283-4,

J.F. Welborn to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., July 14,
1917, Kine Pavers, 35, p. 31557.
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1
of f »vending a conference with the union on July 26.

Before tnis second conference was held, welborn was in-
formed about newspaver reoorts which claimed that the miners
were unhaposy. Hockefeller asked Welborn to make "full repar-
ation" if the charges were true, but, 1f groundless, to make
the facts public so as to counter the unfavorable pudblicity.
Unless this was done, warned Rockefeller, the desire among the
miners to strike would "naturally be interpreted as indicating
that something was wrong and the company would be publicly
criticized and condemned in spite of 1ts cleen record and 1its
constant effort to Gte fair."2 welborn did not share Rockefel-
ler's concern. "Unless we are woefully in the dark as to the
feeling of our men in general", he wrote to King three days
before the conference, "the grievapces that will be vpresented
Thursday will be of a trivial and imaginary character."

Welborn's coafidence justified itself when the con-
ference actually toox place., roran came up with only two
grievances both involving discharges. After Welhorn insisted
that these could be ta%xen uv by the Plen, [Horan, terming the
Plan a "one-sided affair,.undemooratic. and a fallure", object-
~ed. The District oresident then as%ed for union recosnition
to whicn Wwelborn immecdliately said no. The meeting was dissolved
without any agreeament and, =zccording to Welborn, with horan

1

J.E. Welborn 5o iackenzie xing, July 17, i%17,
fLing rapers, 38, v. 33405,

ZJohn D. kockefeller, Jr., to J.F. Welborn, July 18,

1917, Kigg farers, 35, p. 31962,
' 2

J.F. Welborn Lo mackenzie Hing, July 23, 1017,
King Paoers, 38, p. 33411,
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dieinle "To tring hicself Lo helieve that we conuid not he ina-
duced to recognalze the union."1

Coioany en were delightel with the results of the cCOoNn=
ference. hockefeller consratulsted welborn for having "hgngled
a trying situation with great oatience, wisdom, snd s%ill."
LThe next d=y Welborn vired Rockeleller that conditions in the
district vere guieter than they had heen a week earlier and so
far results of_circulating a netition askling for recognition of
the union hzd no% been such "as to glve us serious concern."3

fhe fact that no strike occurred would indicate that
the grievances were not so serious. They served a means to an
end-~obtaining a coaference vhere a demand for union recognition
would be made, Though the demand was rejected, it certainly
would bhe made again.

In 3eptemher, the union reéeived Aanother ovonortunity
to maie the request. Murohy, while on a visit to Colorado,
had & neeting with soran., Essentially, the union leader gave
Hurphy the same story he had already told Welhorn. Since g0
pber cent of the CF&I's miners were unionized, he insisted, they

denanded revlacing the Plan with the UKWA. Murohy acknowledged

rioran's demand but referred to Welborn the decision whether to

S ———————

1

J.F. kelborn to John D. Rockefeller, Jr., July 28,
1517, King Pacers, 38, p. 33421,
2

John D. hockefeller, Jr., to J.F. Welborn, August 5,
i¥17, Aing Pavers, 37, p. 32935,
3

J.F. Welborn to John D. Roc“efeller, Jr., Auzust 6,
1917, Kiﬂg ravers, 37, p. 32942, :

Fitch, "Two Years of the Rockefeller Plan", p, 19.
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1
refuse or acceot.

ioran osersisted in his efforts z2nd next attemnted to
discuss the watter with Rocxkefeller, but the latter would have
none of it. He made it clear to Horsn th=t he would not under-
cut hls executive officers. Rockefeller relterated his vosition

to Welhorn:

ahlle I am greatly interested in the welfare of

the Counany and its ewnloyees, I shall not =t any

tine undertake to carry on negotistions of =ny

%ind 2ffecting the interests of the cornoration,

much less nermit myself individually to =zct as a

court of avneal from the officers of the Comvany.2
rioran and the union had lost another round.

In suanary, though most of the svecific ohjectives of
the strike, other t+-n recognition of the union, were carried
out by the rlan, Selekran and Van Xleeck called the Plan "an
incomplete experiment", and concluded that the fruits of the
experiment had been "better living conditions 2and better relations
between managerial officials and miners", but that it had not
become "a partnership for labor." Likewlse, Fitch helieved
the Plan to be "the latest chavter in the story of Rockefeller
in Colorado. 1It's a bhetter and more honeful chanter than others,
but it isn't the end of the hook." The miners, the only veonle
‘who had nersonal “nowledge of the Plan and its workings, would
undoubtedly have agreed. Prohbably the miners were dissatisfled

1

J.F. Welborn to Starr J. Mirohy, Seotember 18, 1917,
{ing Pasers, 37, p. 32961,

2

John D. hHockefeller, Jr., to J.F. Welbhorn, Octoher
16, 1917, King Pa»ers, 37, v. 32982.

3

Seletuan and Vo [leeclkt, ». 390,

L

Fitch, "fwo Years of the Rockefeller Plan", p. 20.
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with every aspect of the Plan, but many times they manifested
thelr discontent in regard to one of its most important features--
wages. Under the Plan, wages, which were to he determined by
the conpany, would remain statlionary unless increases were given
in the major unlonized flelds. Between 1916 and 1920, company
employees recelved on six occaslons advances averaging 10 ver
cent, but these were brought about either by the negotiating
efforts of the UNWA or by their bheing outrightly imposed by the
governmenﬁ. A large majority of the miners, aware that it wasn't
the comoany which was fighting its hattles, demonstrated its
discontent by Jjoining the national coal strike of November 1,
1919. During the depression of 1921, the company set out to
cut wages by 30 per cent. With one day's notice, management on
September 1 made the necessary cut, which was immediately fol-
lowed by a strike. The Colorado Industrial Commission tempnorari-
ly checked the company's intentions by declaring the reduction
lllegal for fallure to give thirty days' notice. The CF&I met
this requirement and by November 17 the wage cut came into
efcht. In 1922 another walkout, occasioned by national rather
than local issues, occurred. Following this latest strike,
the comvany restored the 1920 scale.1

The miners' discontent persisted through the late twenties
and the early years of the New Deal. It was only in 1935 that
they were delivered from the Plan. In that year the National
Labor Relations Act closed the book on the company union sand the

UMWA finally established itself at the CF&I mines.

1

Irving Bernstein, The Lean Years (Boston: Houghton
Mifflin Company, 1960), pp. 162-3,
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CONCIUSICN

The CF&I, like many other corporations at the turn of
the century, was nlagued with recurrent labor oproblems. Not-
withstanding these difficulties, the company attempted to im-
prove the lot of 1its men., Its bellef that welfare was good
business was instrumental in the company changing from a purely
economic to a major social institution as well. This bhelief,
however, was not shared by the miners. That they were not
satisfled with social reforms only was amply demonstrated by
the outbreak of the 1913-1914 strike.

Economlcally, socially, and politically, the miner
felt the overwhelming might of the corporation. The nature of
the company town was partly responéible for many of the economic
evils. The miner was unhapny with the company store, often the
only store in the town and where prices were established by the
company. Scrip payment, which in fact cheated the miner of
part of his wages, also proved unsatisfactory. Socially, though
the company had gone far in making conditions better at its
mines, it still did not provide adequate housing and continually
'directed the type of religious instruction the worker would
receive. The company added tb the miner's discontent by inter-
fering with his basic American rights and by outrightly evading
Colorado labor laws. Faced with such a comnlete domination,
the miner had but one recourse--join an organization which could

more effectively bargain with the comnany. The strike bhroke
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out when the comvany flatly refused to deal with the miners
collectively.

The outbreak of the strike immediately brouéht hoth
levels of government, federal and state, on the scene. The
apoointment of a mediator, the intervention of Secretary of
Labor Wilson, even the personal efforts of Governor Ammons and
President Wlilson did not achlieve a breakthrough in the nego-
tiations. In all cases, the CF&I, with the cooperation of
other companlies, stifled all hooes of settlement.

Management's obduracy was heartily suonorted by owner-
ship. Whenever Welborn and Bowers reported to Rockefeller
about their rejection of the latest peace pronosal, Rockefeller
approved their position. He often made it clear to them that
whatever the decision they would reach, he would stand by that
decision. Rockefeller's resolve to wash hls hands of all labor
matters was a subject of much discussion during the strike and
was something for which he was severely criticized. However,
his attitude was not unique in the cornorate world; indeed,
most directors who testified before the Commission on Industrial
Relations candidly admitted that they left labor questions to
managenment.,

Following the Ludlow incident, there was a perceptible
change in the relations between Rockefeller and his Colorado
subérdinates. If, until Ludlow, Rockefeller had comvletely
relied on whatever Welborn or RBowers had reported, after Ludlow,
he did not accept everything at its face value. Management,

in its quest to defeat the strike, remained adamant towards
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settling with the UNWA; Rockefeller, however, was willing to
smooth labor relations. Thus, he avvointed a labor exvert,
lackenzie sing, to investigate the causes of industrial unrest.
roreover, though management manifested g definite indifference
to public opinion, Rockefeller wasg very much concerned with it.
This was revealed by his hiring of a publicity agent to put
forward the oderators? viewpoint before the puhlic.

During the summer of 1914, Xing orovosed to Rockefeller
a plan which, he hoped, could be implemented at the company's
properties and which woulgd go far 1n'a11ev1at1ng the miners!
avorehensions, Since the scheme essentlally kept power in the
company;s‘hands, Rockefeller was Very receptive. After he
accepted it, he presented it to the Colorado officials for
their opinion, Welborn and Bowers, claiming that ratification
of Ling's idea Wwould constitute a defeat for the company,
rejected it byt vere willing to reconsider its inmplementation
once the strike was over. When Rockefeller agreed with their
decision, the plan was temvorarily set aside.

The termination of the strike allowed the company to
put the Industrial Representation Plan in oneration at its
mines. Under the Plan, the CF&I was not to discriminate agalnst
a worXker for being a union member, but, at the same time, it
would not Tecognize or deal with trade-unions. The Plan,
rather than heing merely directed against trade-unions, reprea-
sented Rockefeller's.view of the best systen of industrial

relations, Its Princinles were morally and legally correct,

and €conoumically and phitosoohically sound. The philosonhy
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Fad

of the Plan was rooted 1n tne '$th century bhut was influenced
by the Progressive iiovemnent. During this period, there arose
widesoread resentment of hlg wusiness occasioned by the evils
and abuses of industrialisn. This resentment took the form
of the writings of jouranallsts who exposed some of the prac-
tices of large corvorations. Relative to standards of the
period, the CF&I was not a large enterprise but, heing a
Rockefeller concern, was as much in the public eye as United
States Steel. Thls factor restricted the company in its deal-
ings with labor. In other words, it could have hlocked union-
ism without the Plan but this would have meant oonen repression,
as in the past. By 1915, this was no longer possible. There-
fore, what the company needed was a righteous way of blocking
unions. The Plan filled thls requirement. It enabled Rocke-
feller to talk about "a nartnershio for 1ahor" without surrender-
ing any of the absolute power that manegement had once exercised.
The miners' overwhelming acceptance of the Plan once
it was orooosed to them did not indicate ﬁotal satisfaction
with its provisions, but that, rather, under the circumstances,
they could not bargain for anything better. Thls was revealed
by the subsequent history of the comvany. After the Plan had
been in force a few years, investigators found conditions at
the mines much improved in reference to pre-strike years and
many miners satisfied with its workings. However, there was
also a substantial majority which did not think of the Plan as
a panacea. At most, thils majority offered a temporary alle-
giance to the Plan, an alleglance which it would quickly bhreak
off glven the ovportunity. During the period 1919-1935, this

opoortunity was often taxen, but on all occasions the result
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proved detrimental to the miner. It was only in 1935 that the
federal government, by declaring all types of comnany plans
illegal, accomplished what the majority of CF&I miners had

tried unsuccessfully to do for twenty years.
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